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Choppies Enterprises Limited
(Registration number BW00001142508)
Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022

Directors' Responsibilities and Approval

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements of Choppies
Enterprises Limited, comprising the statements of financial position as at 30 June 2022 and the statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2022, the accounting policies and the
notes to the financial statements, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), Financial Reporting
Pronouncements issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, the Botswana Stock Exchange, Johannesburg Stock Exchange Listings
Requirements and requirements of the Botswana Companies Act.

The directors are also responsible for such internal controls they deem necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and for maintaining adequate accounting records and an effective system
of risk management. In addition, the directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the other information accompanying
the financial statements.

The directors have assessed the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to continue as going concerns (refer to note 44) and the impact
of the Russia-Ukraine war on its business and, based on management's assessment, have no reason to believe these businesses will not be
going concerns in the year ahead.

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the consolidated and separate annual financial statements are fairly presented in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

Approval of the consolidated and separate financial statements

Having considered the unmodified audit opinion of the auditors as set out on pages 4 to 11, for the year 30 June 2022, the Board of
directors approved the consolidated and separate financial statements of Choppies Enterprises Limited, as identified in the first paragraph,
on 20 September 2022 and these are signed on their behalf by:

Lo
(\L\__]Q ﬁ;‘__

R Ottapathu DKU Corea
Chief Executive Officer Chairman
20 September 2022

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Responsibility Statement

The members of management, whose names are stated below, hereby confirm that:

. the annual financial statements set out on pages 12 to 84, fairly present in all material respects the financial position, financial
performance and cash flows of the issuer in terms of IFRS;

. to the best of our knowledge and belief, no facts have been omitted or untrue statements made that would make the annual
financial statements false or misleading;

. internal financial controls have been put in place to ensure that material information relating to the issuer and its consolidated
subsidiaries have been provided to effectively prepare the annual financial statements of the issuer;

. the internal financial controls are adequate and effective and can be relied upon in compiling the annual financial statements,
having fulfilled our role and function as executives with primary responsibility for implementation and execution of controls;

. where we are not satisfied, we have disclosed to the audit committee and the auditors any deficiencies in design and
operational effectiveness of the internal financial controls, and have taken steps to remedy the deficiencies; and

. we are not aware of any fraud involving directors.

A p Rein

R Ottapathu M Rajcoomar
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
20 September 2022
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Plot 139, Gaborone International Finance Park
Gaborone, Botswana

PO Box 401805, Gaborone, Botswana
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Gaborone
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Tel: +267 395 7466

Fax: +267 395 7477

Email: gbe.info@mazars.co.bw
WWW.mazars.co.bw

Independent Auditor’'s Report
For the year ended 30 June 2022

To the Shareholders of Choppies Enterprises Limited

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate

Annual Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated and separate annual financial statements of Choppies Enterprises
Limited and its subsidiaries (“Choppies Group”) set out on pages 12 to 84 which comprise the
consolidated and separate statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, and the consolidated
and separate statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated and separate
statement of changes in equity and consolidated and separate statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated and separate financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated and separate financial position of the Choppies Group as at 30 June 2022,
and its consolidated and separate financial performance and consolidated and separate cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis of Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B) (IESBA Code) and other independence
requirements applicable to performing audits of consolidated and separate annual financial statements
in Botswana. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code
and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in Botswana. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Certified Auditors

A full list of national partners is available on request or at www.mazars.co.bw


http://www.mazars.com/
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Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 44 on the financial statements, which indicates that as at 30 June 2022 the
Group’s total liabilities exceeded its total assets by BWP 341 million (2021: BWP 448 million), the total
current liabilities exceed its total current assets by BWP403 million (2021: BWP 401 million) and the
Group incurred accumulated losses of BWP 798 million (2021: BWP 938 million). As stated in Note 44
of the consolidated and separate financial statements, these events or conditions, along with other
matters as set forth, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the
group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the annual financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition
to the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Matter #01 Accounting for Supplier Rebate Income
Description of Key The Group has agreements with suppliers whereby volume-related
Audit Matter allowances, promotional and marketing allowances and various other fees

and discounts are received in connection with the purchase of goods for
resale from those suppliers. As such, the group recognises other income
or a reduction in cost of sales because of amounts receivable from
suppliers.

We regarded the recognition of supplier rebates to be a matter of most
significance to the audit as there is a risk that rebates may be materially
misstated due to the significant magnitude thereof, the varying terms with
the suppliers and the judgements made in accruing for rebates as at year-
end in relation to the nature and level of fulfilment of the group’s obligation
under the supplier agreements. Such agreements typically allow for
various adjustments to the original selling price of goods subsequent to
delivery of the goods, including (but not limited to) trade rebates, volume
discounts (often measured using purchases over an extended period of
time), early settlement discounts, advertising, and other allowances
(collectively, “rebate income”).

The disclosure associated with supplier rebates is set out in the financial
statements on the following note:

e Accounting policy 1.21 — Rebates from suppliers

How we addressed We assessed the systems used to calculate rebates as well as the controls
the Key Audit Matter | implemented by management over the accuracy of the calculation of
rebates.

We have tested the inputs used in calculating the supplier rebates by
performing, among other, the following procedures for a sample of rebates:
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Matter #02

We reviewed the major supplier agreements to understand their
terms;

We assessed management’s conclusion as to whether the rebate
relates to a specific and genuine service, and consequently the
treatment of the rebate in relation to the measurement of the cost of
inventory at year end, through comparison to prior year treatment and
evaluation of the types and terms of rebates received with reference
to contractual terms;

We recalculated and assessed the rebate amounts recognised and the
period in which they were recognised. This was based on the review
of contractual performance obligations on a sample of contracts with
suppliers to assess the conditions required for supplier rebates to be
recognised and whether or not these had been met;

We assessed the recognition and classification of the rebates and
other income and related costs in terms of the requirements of IAS 2,
Inventories; and

We have assessed and evaluated the presentation and disclosure of
the above matter, as set out in the note 1.21 of the financial statements
(Rebates from suppliers).

Accuracy and Completeness of Related Party Transactions

Description of Key
Audit Matter

How we addressed
the Key Audit Matter

The Group has undertaken transactions with numerous related parties.
These include sales of goods to related parties, as well as purchase of
goods from related parties. We have identified accuracy and completeness
of the related party transactions as a key audit matter due to the significance
of related party transactions; the risk that transactions are entered into on a
non-arm’s length basis, and the risk that such transactions remain
undisclosed.

The disclosure associated with related parties is set out in the financial
statements on the following notes:

e Accounting policy note 1.7— Financial Instruments (IFRS 9) — Amounts
due from related parties

e Note 39 — Related Parties

Our procedures relating to related party relationships, transactions and
balances included, amongst others:

e We inquired from management and those charged with governance,
and performed other risk assessment procedures considered
appropriate, to obtain an understanding of the controls, if any,
established to identify, account for, and disclose related party
relationships and transactions in the financial statements;

e We maintained alertness for related party information when reviewing
records and other supporting documents during the fieldwork phase of
the audit.

We reviewed an extensive list of business documents and compiled a
list of related parties and related party transactions independently.

e Where management asserted that the transactions are in fact at arm's
length, we assessed this assertion by:
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Matter #03

- Comparing the terms of the related party transactions to those of an
identical or similar transaction with one or more non-related parties.

- Comparing the terms of the transaction to known market terms for
broadly similar transactions on an open market.

- Considering the appropriateness of management’s process for
supporting the assertion.

- Verifying the source of the internal or external data supporting the
assertion, and testing the data to determine their accuracy,
completeness, and relevance; and

- Evaluating the reasonableness of any significant assumptions on
which the assertion is based.

e We have assessed and evaluated the presentation and disclosure of
the above matter, as set out in the note 1.7 (Financial Instruments (IFRS
9) — Amounts due from related parties) and note 39 (Related Parties) of
the financial statements.

IFRS 16 — Leases Accounting Standard

Description of Key
Audit Matter

How we addressed
the Key Audit Matter

As of June 30, 2022, right-of-use assets in the amount of P597 million (2021:
P580 million and lease liabilities in the amount of P744 million (2021: P722
million were recognized in Choppies Enterprises Limited’s Annual Financial
Statements. Right-of-use assets accounts for 32% of total assets with an
associated lease liability approximating 33% of total liabilities and thus have
a material impact on the group’s net assets and financial position.

The calculation of the lease term and the incremental borrowing rates used
as discount rates can be discretionary and based on estimates. In addition,
extensive data from the leases must be recorded to calculate the effects of
IFRS 16 and the development of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets in
accordance with the standard. This data is the basis for the measurement
and recognition of the lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

There is a risk that the lease liabilities and right-of-use assets are not
recognised in full in the annual statement of financial position. Furthermore,
there is a risk that the lease liabilities and right-of-use assets have not been
measured correctly.

Due to the significance of the estimates and judgements involved which
could result in a material misstatement this has been deemed a key audit
matter.

The disclosure associated with right-of-use assets and lease liabilities is set
out in the annual financial statements on the following notes:

o Note 16 — Right-of-use assets

¢ Note 32 — Lease liabilities

We critically evaluated the computations and assumptions relating to the
IFRS 16 accounting standard. Our evaluation included the following
procedures:

o We analysed the accounting instructions underlying the completeness
and conformity with IFRS 16;
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Matter #04

e We performed detailed testing on a sample basis, which was chosen in
part on a representative and in part on a risk-oriented basis, and
reviewed the accuracy and completeness of the lease contracts and that
the correct inputs have been applied;

e To the extent that discretionary decisions were made regarding the
lease term, we reviewed whether, in light of the market conditions and
risks in the industry, the underlying assumptions are plausible and
consistent with other assumptions made in the Annual Financial
Statements; and

e We reproduced the group’s calculations of the carrying amounts of the
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets. To this end, we evaluated the
measurement and recognition of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets
for selected leases, chosen in part on a representative and in part on a
risk-oriented basis. The risk-based assessment included an evaluation
of proper measurement in the case of changes to or reassessments of
the underlying contract;

We assessed the appropriateness of the Group’s disclosures of the impact
of the IFRS 16 accounting standard and the application in the notes to the
Annual Financial Statements (Note 32 Lease liabilities and Note 16 on Right-
of-Use Assets).

Goodwill impairment

Description of Key
Audit Matter

As disclosed in note 17, the value of the Nanavac Investments (Private)
Limited (Zimbabwe) Goodwill arose when the Group assumed control of
Nanavac Investments (Private) Limited (Zimbabwe). It arose from the
acquisition of Nanavac Investments (Private) Limited (Zimbabwe) and is
allocated to the cash generating units (CGUs) which are individual operating
stores in Zimbabwe.

In line with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, management performs an
impairment test on the recoverable amount of goodwill on an annual basis
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amounts may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of the goodwill has been determined by
management using the higher of fair value less cost to sell and value in use
calculations. In this instance, the recoverable amount was determined
based on value in use, by using the discounted cash flow model. The
valuation techniques applied by management involves a significant amount
of estimation and judgement.

The most significant judgements and assumptions used in determining the
valuation of the recoverable amounts include among others:

e Short — and long — term revenue growth;

e Discount rate;

e Capitalisation rates;

e Net operating costs;

¢ Working capital movement; and

o Capital outlay
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The significant of the estimates and judgements involved, coupled with the
high number of individual estimates performed, could result in a material
misstatement, and therefore warrant specific audit focus.

The disclosure associated goodwill is set out in the annual financial
statements on the following notes:

e Note 17— Goodwill

e Accounting policy Note 1.2 — Consolidation

How we addressed We performed substantive tests of detail on the lowest level of cash
the Key Audit Matter | generating units to which the goodwill has been allocated. We performed
the following substantive procedures:

¢ We challenged management with respect to the budgets and forecasts
by comparing the Group’s historical forecast growth rates and gross
margins with actual results to determine whether they are reasonable
and supportable;

e We evaluated the appropriateness of the valuation methodology applied
by management to calculate the recoverable amount of each CGU. We
considered the principles and integrity of the discounted cash flow
models against the requirements of the IAS 36 and acceptable industry
standards;

o We evaluated the appropriateness of the Group’s discount rates used
in each discounted cash flow model, by comparing these discount rates
against external industry data and assessing the reasonableness of
specific risk premium inputted into the calculation of the discount rates;

e We reperformed the arithmetical accuracy of the calculations contained
in management’s model verifying that all formulae therein were applied
accurately; and

e We evaluated the completeness and accuracy of disclosures relating to
the impairment assessment in the consolidated financial statements, to
assess the compliance with the requirements of IAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

Other information

The directors are responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the document titled “Choppies Enterprises Limited Consolidated and Separate Annual
Financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022”, which includes the Directors’ Responsibilities
and Approval of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and the Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer Responsibility Statement, which we obtained prior to the date of this report,
and the Annual Integrated Report, which is expected to made available to us after that date. The other
information does not include the consolidated and separate annual financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the information is
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materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate annual financial statements, or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate
annual financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
and separate annual financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate annual financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the group’s and company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless

the directors either intend to liquidate the group and / or company or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibility for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Annual
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate
annual financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated and separate annual financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate
annual financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the group's and the company’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of
accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group's and the
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated and separate annual financial statements or, if such disclosures are

10
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inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
company to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate
annual financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and
separate annual financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. From
the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters.

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the latter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

— - Date: 20" September 2022
Mazars Gaborone

Certified Auditors

Practicing member: Shashikumar Velambath

Membership number: CAP 022 2022
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Choppies Enterprises Limited
(Registration number BW00001142508)

Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Group Company

Figures in Pula million Note(s) 2022 2021 2022 2021
Continuing operations
Revenue 4 6 097 5376 - -
Retail sales 4 6 042 5331 - -
Cost of sales 5 (4 735) (4 142) - -
Gross profit 1307 1189 - -
Other operating income 4 55 45 - -
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment 6 (2) - - -
Movement in credit loss allowances 7 (7) 17 (30) (3)
Administrative expenses 8 (834) (857) - -
Selling and distribution expenses 9 (35) (16) - -
Foreign exchange gains/(losses) on lease liability 28 (19) - -
Contingent consideration on sale of South African operations 38 (20) - - -
Foreign exchange gains on Zimbabwean legacy debt receipts 11 15 - - -
Other operating expenses 10 (220) (134) - -
Net monetary loss on Zimbabwe entities (8) 1 - -
Operating profit (loss) 7 279 226 (30) (3)
Finance costs 12 (99) (110) - -
Profit (loss) before taxation 180 116 (30) (3)
Taxation 13 (35) (34) - -
Profit (loss) from continuing operations 145 82 (30) (3)
Discontinued operations
Loss from discontinued operations - (22) - -
Profit (loss) for the year 145 60 (30) (3)
Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (113) (75) - -
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations in 75 34 - -
hyperinflationary currency
Total items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (38) (41) - -
Other comprehensive loss for the year net of taxation (38) (41) - -
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year 107 19 (30) (3)
Profit (loss) attributable to:
Owners of the parent 140 69 (30) (3)
Non-controlling interest 5 (9) - -

145 60 (30) (3)
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Choppies Enterprises Limited
(Registration number BW00001142508)

Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Group Company
Figures in Pula million Note(s) 2022 2021 2022 2021
Profit (loss) attributable to:
Owners of the parent:
From continuing operations 140 85 (30) (3)
From discontinued operations - (16) - -
140 69 (30) (3)
Non-controlling interests:
From continuing operations 5 (3) - -
From discontinued operations - (6) - -
5 (9) - -
Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:
Owners of the parent 103 25 (30) (3)
Non-controlling interests 4 (6) - -
107 19 (30) (3)
Earnings per share
Basic earnings/(loss) per share
Basic earnings per share (thebe) - from continuing 14 107 65 - -
operations
Basic loss per share (thebe) - from discontinued operations 14 - (13) - -
107 52 - -
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share
Diluted earnings per share (thebe) - from continuing 14 107 65 - -
operations
Diluted loss per share (thebe) - from discontinued operations 14 - (13) - -
107 52 - -
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Choppies Enterprises Limited
(Registration number BW00001142508)

Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022
Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2022

Group Company
Figures in Pula million Note(s) 2022 2021 2022 2021
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 538 507 - -
Right-of-use assets 16 597 580 - -
Goodwill 17 48 60 - -
Intangible assets 18 4 5 - -
Investments in subsidiaries 19 - - 74 104
Investments in new projects 20 8 8 - -
1195 1160 74 104
Current Assets
Inventories 21 461 341 - -
Amounts due from related parties 22 4 5 164 168
Advances and deposits 23 56 a4 - -
Trade and other receivables 24 75 65 - 1
Current tax receivable 10 10 - -
Restricted cash 25 - 5 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 26 85 74 - -
691 544 164 169
Total Assets 1886 1704 238 273
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of Parent
Stated capital 27 906 906 906 906
Treasury shares 28 (30) (30) - -
Hyper inflationary reserve 29 269 194 - -
Foreign currency translation reserves 30 (586) (474) - -
Retained loss (798) (938) (668) (638)
(239) (342) 238 268
Non-controlling interest 19 (102) (106) - -
(341) (448) 238 268
Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings 31 530 616 - -
Lease liabilities 32 587 572 - -
Deferred tax 33 16 19 - -
1133 1207 - -
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 35 717 568 - 5
Amounts due to related entities 34 44 44 - -
Borrowings 31 87 86 - -
Lease liabilities 32 157 150 - -
Current tax payable 21 29 - -
Bank overdraft 26 68 68 - -
1094 945 - 5
Total Liabilities 2227 2152 - 5
Total Equity and Liabilities 1886 1704 238 273
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Choppies Enterprises Limited

(Registration number BW00001142508)
Consolidated And Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022

Statement of Changes in Equity

Stated capital Treasury Foreign currency Hyper Retained loss Total Non-controlling Total equity
shares translation inflationary attributable to interest
reserve translation equity holders of
reserve the Group /
Figures in Pula million Company
Group
Balance at 01 July 2020 906 (30) (396) 160 (1 007) (367) (100) (467)
Profit for the year - - - - 69 69 (9) 60
Other comprehensive income - - (78) 34 - (44) 3 (41)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - (78) 34 69 25 (6) 19
Balance at 01 July 2021 906 (30) (474) 194 (938) (342) (106) (448)
Profit for the year - - - - 140 140 5 145
Other comprehensive income - - (112) 75 - (37) (1) (38)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - (112) 75 140 103 4 107
Balance at 30 June 2022 906 (30) (586) 269 (798) (239) (102) (341)
Note(s) 27 28 30 29 19
Company
Balance at 01 July 2020 906 - - - (635) 271 - 271
Loss for the year - - - - (3) (3) - (3)
Other comprehensive income - - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive Loss for the year - - - - (3) (3) - (3)
Balance at 01 July 2021 906 - - - (638) 268 - 268
Loss for the year - - - - (30) (30) - (30)
Other comprehensive income - - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive Loss for the year - - - - (30) (30) - (30)
Balance at 30 June 2022 906 - - - (668) 238 - 238
Note(s) 27 27 30
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Choppies Enterprises Limited
(Registration number BW00001142508)

Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022

Statement of Cash Flows

Group Company
Figures in Pula million Note(s) 2022 2021 2022 2021
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit (loss) before taxation 180 116 (30) (3)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 7 241 259 - -
Losses on disposals of assets 6 2 - - -
Finance costs 12 99 110 - -
Impairment losses and reversals - - 30 -
Foreign exchange gains/(losses) on lease liability (28) 19 - -
Restricted cash movements 5 8 - -
Changes in working capital:
Movement in inventories (120) (35) - -
Movement in trade and other receivables (10) (9) 4 5
Movement in advances and deposits (12) (6) - -
Movement in amount due from related entities 1 - - 65
Movement in trade and other payables 149 20 (4) (60)
Movement in amounts due to related entities - (39) - -
Cash generated from operations 507 443 - 7
Tax (paid) received (44) (22) - (7)
Cash flows of discontinued operations - (43) - -
Net cash from operating activities 463 378 - -
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 15 (120) (46) - -
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 7 5 - -
Purchase of other intangible assets 18 (2) (3) - -
Business combinations 37 - (6) - -
Investments in new projects 20 - (10) - -
Net cash from investing activities (115) (60) - -
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings and lease liabilities 36 36 502 - -
Repayment of borrowings 36 (96) (429) - -
Lease payments - right-of-use assets 36 (170) (162) - -
Net cash flows of discontinued operations - (38) - -
Finance costs 12 (94) (98) - -
Net cash from financing activities (324) (225) - -
Total cash movement for the year 24 93 - -
Cash at the beginning of the year 6 (88) - -
Cash balances from discontinued operations - 2 - -
Effect of translation of foreign entities (13) (1) - -
Total cash at end of the year 26 17 6 - -
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Choppies Enterprises Limited

(Registration number BW00001142508)
Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022

Accounting Policies

Corporate information

Choppies Enterprises Limited (CEL, the Company) is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of Botswana and
listed on the Botswana Stock Exchange. The Company has a secondary listing on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. The Company
registration number is BW00001142508. The consolidated and separate annual financial statements comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”).

The business of the Group is concentrated in the retail supermarket industry.
1.  Significant accounting policies

The consolidated and separate annual financial statements (“the financial statements”) are prepared in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), the Botswana Companies Act, the Botswana Stock Exchange, the Johannesburg Stock Exchange
requirements and the Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council. The financial
statements were approved by the board of directors on 20 September 2022.

1.1 Basis of preparation

The Group and Company financial statements are presented in Botswana Pula, which is also the functional currency of the Company and
the presentation currency of the Group. All amounts have been rounded to nearest millions, except where otherwise stated.

Certain individual companies in the Group have different functional currencies and are translated on consolidation.

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments which are measured at fair value
and Zimbabwean operations translated on a current cost basis as required by IAS 29 "Financial Reporting in a Hyperinflationary
Economies". The financial statements incorporate the following accounting policies which are consistent with those applied in the previous
year, except as otherwise indicated.

Judgements made by the board in the application of IFRS that have a significant effect on the financial statements and estimates with a
significant risk of material adjustment are discussed in significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty in note 1.28

1.2 Consolidation
Basis of consolidation

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets
acquired. Transaction costs are expressed as incurred except if it refers to the issue of debt or equity securities. Any goodwill that arises is
tested annually for impairment (refer to note 17).

Goodwill
All goodwill is acquired through business combinations and initially measured at fair value of the consideration transferred. The goodwill
consists of the difference between the cost of the acquisition and the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired.

Goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to the individual cash-generating units and is
tested annually for impairment. An impairment loss is recognised if the present value of the estimated future cash flows arising from the
identified units is exceeded by the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities of the unit including goodwill or the fair value less the cost
of disposal of the cash-generating unit exceeds the carrying amount of goodwill. An impairment loss is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year in which it is identified. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

Investment in subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed or has rights to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.
The financial statements have been prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar
circumstances. Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses in the Company financial statements.
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Choppies Enterprises Limited

(Registration number BW00001142508)
Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022

Accounting Policies

1.2 Consolidation (continued)

Transactions elimination on consolidation

Intragroup balances, and income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interest ("NCI")

NCls are disclosed separately in the Group statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
NCls are viewed as equity participants of the Group and all transactions with NCls are therefore accounted for as equity transactions and
included in the Group statement of changes in equity.

NCls are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the acquisition date.

Loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other
components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former
subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

Changes in Group's interests in subsidiaries
Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration transferred by the Group to obtain
control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity
interests issued by the Group, which includes the fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Acquisition costs are expensed as and when incurred.

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are generally measured at their acquisition-date fair values.
1.3 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services, additions to or replacements of parts of property, plant and equipment are
capitalised if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost can be
measured reliably. Day to day servicing costs are included in profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is available for use as intended by management. Depreciation is charged to write off
the asset's carrying amount over its estimated useful life to its estimated residual value, using a method that best reflects the pattern in
which the asset's economic benefits are consumed by the Group. Leased assets are depreciated in a consistent manner over the shorter of
their expected useful lives and the lease term. Depreciation is not charged to an asset if its estimated residual value exceeds or is equal to
its carrying amount. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for sale or derecognised.
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Choppies Enterprises Limited

(Registration number BW00001142508)
Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022

Accounting Policies

1.3 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation method Average useful life
Leasehold improvements Straight line Over the lease term
Plant and machinery Straight line

. Bakery equipment 4 - 20 years

. Butchery and takeaway equipment 5-17 years

. Refrigeration equipment 7 - 14 years

. Cold-room and compressors, generators 7 - 20 years

. Electrical and fittings 6 - 14 years

. Others (scales, pallet jacks and mechanical equipment) 6- 7 years
Furniture and fixtures Straight line

. Shelving 7 - 14 years

. Check out tills 6 - 14 years

. Drop safes 20 - 29 years

. Others (cabinets and counters) 10 years

Motor vehicles Straight line 4 -5 years

Office equipment Straight line 3-10years
Aircraft Straight line 20 years
Computer hardware and accessories Straight line 4 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. If the expectations
differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated
separately.

The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
continued use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item, is included in profit or loss when the item is
derecognised.

Investments in new projects

Investments in new projects relates to capital expenditure incurred with regard to new stores to be opened in the following financial year.
Investments in new projects is stated at cost. The amounts are transferred to respective asset classes when the assets are available for
their intended use. Depreciation commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

1.4 Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognised when:
. it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and
o the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised when:
. it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale.
o there is an intention to complete and use or sell it.
o there is an ability to use or sell it.
. it will generate probable future economic benefits.
. there are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset.
o the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
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Accounting Policies

1.4 Intangible assets (continued)
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in substance are not recognised as intangible
assets.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Item Depreciation method Average useful life

Computer software Straight line 5-10vyears
1.5 Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying values of non-financial assets (except for deferred tax assets and inventories) are reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. A cash
generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows
from other assets or asset groups. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.

For non-financial assets, such as goodwill, which have indefinite useful lives and are not subject to depreciation or amortisation, or that are
not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date.

Impairment losses recognised in the prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indication that these losses have decrease or
no longer exist. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation and amortisation, if no impairment was recognised.

1.6 Leases

Group as lessor

The Group considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the statement of financial position. The
right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by
the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of
the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the
useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such

indicators exist.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that date,
discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including in substance fixed), variable
payments based on an index or rate and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is remeasured to reflect
any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.
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Accounting Policies

1.6 Leases (continued)

When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or the profit or loss if the right-
of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets (BWP 60 000) using the practical expedients. Instead
of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense in the profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

On the statement of financial position, right-of-use assets have been included in property, plant and equipment and lease liabilities have
been included in non-current and current liabilities.

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases. Lease classification is made at inception and is only reassessed if there is a lease modification.

Group as a lessee

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is
classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term

lease to which the Group applies the exemption described previously, then it classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

The various lease and non-lease components of contracts containing leases are accounted for separately, with consideration being
allocated by applying IFRS 15, using relative standalone selling prices for the different components.

Operating leases

Lease payments from operating leases are recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Operating lease income is
included in other income (note 4).

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and are
expensed over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.

Modifications made to operating leases are accounted for as a new lease from the effective date of the modification. Any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to the original lease are treated as part of the lease payments of the new lease.

1.7 Financial instruments
Financial instruments held by the Group are classified in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
Broadly, the classification possibilities, which are adopted by the Group ,as applicable, are as follows:

Financial assets which are equity instruments:
. Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss; or

Financial assets which are debt instruments:
. Amortised cost. (This category applies only when the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on specified dates, to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on principal, and where the instrument is held under a business model
whose objective is met by holding the instrument to collect contractual cash flows); or

Financial liabilities:
. Amortised cost

Note 41 Financial instruments and risk management presents the financial instruments held by the Group based on their specific
classifications.

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace.
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1.7 Financial instruments (continued)

The specific accounting policies for the classification, recognition and measurement of each type of financial instrument held by the Group
are presented below:

Amounts due from related entities at amortised cost
Classification
Amounts due from related entities (note 24) are classified as financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost.

They have been classified in this manner because the contractual terms of these amounts due from related parties give rise, on specified
dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the Group's business model is to
collect the contractual cash flows on these amounts.

Recognition and measurement

Amounts due from related parties are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the amounts due.
Amounts due from related parties are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the amounts due from related parties initially, minus principal repayments, plus
cumulative amortisation (interest) using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity
amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.

Impairment

A loss allowance is recognised for all amounts due from related entities, in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments by applying the
general approach, and is monitored at the end of each reporting period. Amounts due from related entities are written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery, for example, when a related entity is placed or has been placed under liquidation. Amounts due
from related entities which have been written off are not subject to enforcement activities.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a loan has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the loan as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring as at the date of initial recognition.

The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the counterparties operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental
bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the credit risk on a loan is always presumed to have increased significantly since
initial recognition if the contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

By contrast, if a loan is assessed to have a low credit risk at the reporting date, then it is assumed that the credit risk on the loan has not
increased significantly since initial recognition.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant increases in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.
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1.7 Financial instruments (continued)
Definition of default

For purposes of internal credit risk management purposes, the Group consider that a default event has occurred if there is either a breach
of financial covenants by the counterparty, or if internal or external information indicates that the counterparty is unlikely to pay its
creditors in full (without taking collateral into account).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a loan instalment is more than 90 days past due
unless there is reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Write off policy

The Group writes off a loan when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Loans written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice

where appropriate. Any recoveries/reversals made are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as a
movement in credit loss allowance (note 7).

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default.

The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as
described above. The exposure at default is the gross carrying amount of the loan at the reporting date.

Lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis in cases where evidence of significant increases in credit risk are not yet available at the
individual instrument level. Loans are then grouped in such a manner that they share similar credit risk characteristics, such as nature of

the loan, external credit ratings (if available), industry of counterparty etc.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous reporting
period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12 month ECL at the current reporting date, and visa versa.

An impairment gain or loss is recognised for all loans in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a
loss allowance account. The impairment loss is included in material operating items requiring separate disclosure in profit or loss as a
movement in credit loss allowance (note 7).

Credit risk

Details of credit risk related to loans receivable are included in the specific notes and the financial instruments and risk management (note
41).

Derecognition
Refer to the "derecognition" section of the accounting policy for the policies and processes related to derecognition.

Any gains or losses arising on the derecognition of a loan receivable is included in profit or loss in impairment.
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1.7 Financial instruments (continued)
Trade and other receivables
Classification

Trade and other receivables, excluding, when applicable, VAT and prepayments, are classified as financial assets subsequently measured at
amortised cost (note 24).

They have been classified in this manner because their contractual terms give rise, on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the Group's business model is to collect the contractual cash flows on
trade and other receivables.

Recognition and measurement

Trade and other receivables are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the receivables. They are
measured, at initial recognition, at transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the receivable initially, minus principal repayments, plus cumulative amortisation
(interest) using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance.

Application of the effective interest method

The application of the effective interest method to calculate interest income on trade receivables is dependent on the credit risk of the
receivable as follows:

. The effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the receivable, provided the receivable is not credit
impaired. The gross carrying amount is the amortised cost before adjusting for a loss allowance.

. If a receivable is a purchased or originated as credit-impaired, then a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost in the determination of interest. This treatment does not change over the life of the receivable, even if it is no
longer credit-impaired.

. If a receivable was not purchased or originally credit-impaired, but it has subsequently become credit-impaired, then the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost of the receivable in the determination of interest. If, in subsequent
periods, the receivable is no longer credit impaired, then the interest calculation reverts to applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount.

Trade and other receivables denominated in foreign currencies

When trade and other receivables are denominated in a foreign currency, the carrying amount of the receivables are determined in the
foreign currency. The carrying amount is then translated to the Pula equivalent using the spot rate at the end of each reporting period.
Any resulting foreign exchange gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss in other operating expenses (note 6).

Details of foreign currency risk exposure and the management thereof are provided in the trade and other receivables (note 24).

Impairment

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables, excluding VAT and prepayments. The
amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date.

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade and other receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (lifetime
ECL), which represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the receivable.

24



Choppies Enterprises Limited
(Registration number BW00001142508)
Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022

Accounting Policies

1.7 Financial instruments (continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The Group makes use of a provision matrix as a practical expedient to the determination of expected credit losses on trade and other
receivables. The provision matrix is based on historic credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current and forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including the time
value of money, where appropriate.

The customer base is widespread and does not show significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments. The loss
allowance is calculated on a collective basis for all trade and other receivables in totality. Details of the provision matrix is presented in

note 24.

An impairment gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of trade and other
receivables, through use of a loss allowance account. The impairment loss is included in profit or loss as a movement in credit loss
allowance (note 7).

Write off policy

The Group writes off a receivable when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Receivables written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Credit risk

Details of credit risk are included in the trade and other receivables note (note 24) and the financial instruments and risk management note
(note 41).

Derecognition

Refer to the derecognition section of the accounting policy for the policies and processes related to derecognition.
Any gains or losses arising on the derecognition of trade and other receivables is included in profit or loss.
Borrowings and loans from related parties

Classification

Amounts due to related entities (note 22) and borrowings (note 31) are classified as financial liabilities subsequently measured at
amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

Borrowings and loans from related parties are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the loan. The
loans are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Interest expense, calculated on the effective interest method, is included in profit or loss in finance costs (note 12.)

Borrowings expose the Group to liquidity risk and interest rate risk. Refer to note 41 for details of risk exposure and management thereof.
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1.7 Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition

Refer to the derecognition section of the accounting policy for the policies and processes related to derecognition.
Trade and other payables

Classification

Trade and other payables (note 35), excluding VAT and amounts received in advance, are classified as financial liabilities subsequently
measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

They are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions, and are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value
plus transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

If trade and other payables contain imputed interest, and the effective interest method results in the recognition of interest expense, then
it is included in profit or loss in finance costs (note 12).

Trade and other payables expose the Group to liquidity risk and possibly to interest rate risk. Refer to note 41 for details of risk exposure
and management thereof.

Trade and other payables denominated in foreign currencies

When trade payables are denominated in a foreign currency, the carrying amount of the payables are determined in the foreign currency.
The carrying amount is then translated to the Pula equivalent using the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Any resulting foreign
exchange gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss in the other operating (losses)/gains (note 6).

Details of foreign currency risk exposure and the management thereof are provided in the financial instruments and risk management note
(note 41).

Derecognition

Refer to the "derecognition" section of the accounting policy for the policies and processes related to derecognition.
Any gains or losses arising on the derecognition of trade and other payables is included in profit or loss in impairment.
Financial guarantee contracts

The Company has issued corporate guarantees to banks for banking facilities granted by them to certain subsidiaries and these guarantees
qualify as financial guarantees because the Company is required to reimburse the banks if these subsidiaries breach any repayment terms.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values plus transaction costs and subsequently at the higher of the
amount of the loss allowance and the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from
contracts with customers.

With reference to Note 31, the Company provides financial guarantees to certain banks in respect of bank facilities granted to certain
subsidiaries. The date when the Group becomes a committed party to the guarantee is considered to be the date of initial recognition for
the purpose of assessing the financial asset for impairment. In determining whether there has been a significant risk of a default occurring
on the drawn-down facilities, the Group considered the change in the risk that the specified debtor (i.e. the applicable subsidiaries) will
default on the contract. The Company assessed that the credit risk relating to the financial guarantees is insignificant to the Company.
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1.7 Financial instruments (continued)

As at the end of the financial year, there was no significant concentration of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the statements of financial position as well as maximum exposure amounts relating to
financial guarantee contracts.

Refer to note 38 for details of financial guarantee contracts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at amortised cost which is deemed to be fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term highly liquid investments readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts, which are repayable on demand and form any
integral part of the Company’s cash management, are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the
statements of cash flows.

Bank overdrafts

Bank overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method.

Derecognition

Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-
cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Reclassification

Financial assets

The Group only reclassifies affected financial assets if there is a change in the business model for managing financial assets. If a
reclassification is necessary, it is applied prospectively from the reclassification date. Any previously stated gains, losses or interest are not

restated.

The reclassification date is the beginning of the first reporting period following the change in business model which necessitates a
reclassification.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are not reclassified.
1.8 Inventories

Inventories comprise merchandise for resale and consumables. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated selling expenses.
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1.8 Inventories (continued)

The cost of inventories is based on the weighted average cost basis and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and
bringing them to their existing location and condition, including distribution costs, and is stated net of relevant purchase incentives.
Obsolete, redundant and slow moving inventories are identified on a regular basis and are written down to their estimated net realisable
values.

1.9 Tax and deferred taxation
Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred taxation is recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised for:
. temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and
that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;
. temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; or
. taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

The amount of deferred taxation provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred taxation is recognised in the profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to a transaction that is recognised directly in equity
or other comprehensive income, (in which case it is recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income) or a business
combination. The effect on deferred tax of any changes in tax rates is recognised in the statement of profit or loss, except to the extent
that it relates to items previously recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised directly in
equity or other comprehensive income.

A deferred taxation asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
unused tax losses and credits can be utilised. Deferred taxation assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. Such reductions are reversed when the probability of future
taxable profits improve. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it
has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised.

Tax expenses

Taxation comprises current and deferred taxation. Taxation is recognised in the profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a
business combination or items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income. Current taxation is the expected tax payable
on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date, after taking account of income
and expenditure which is not subject to taxation, and any adjustment to tax payable/refundable in respect of previous years.

Dividends withholding tax

Dividends withholding tax is a tax on shareholders and is applicable on all dividends declared. Withholding tax applicable in Botswana for
both residents and non-residents is 10%. Dividends payable to non-exempt shareholders registered on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange
are subject to 20% withholding tax in accordance with the South African Income Tax Act 58 of 1962, unless varied in accordance with any
relevant Double Tax Agreement.

1.10 Non-current assets (disposal groups) held for sale or distribution to owners

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are presented separately and measured at the lower of their carrying amounts immediately
prior to their classification as held for sale and their fair value less costs to sell. However, some held for sale assets such as financial assets
or deferred tax assets, continue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s relevant accounting policy for those assets. Once classified
as held for sale, the assets are not subject to depreciation or amortisation.

Any profit or loss arising from the sale of a discontinued operation or its remeasurement to fair value less costs to sell is presented as part
of a single line item, profit or loss from discontinued operations.
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1.11 Stated capital and equity

Ordinary shares (with no par value) are classified as stated capital. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares
are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Other components of equity include the following:

. Foreign currency translation reserve - comprises foreign currency translation differences arising from the translation of
financial statements of the Group’s foreign entities into Botswana Pula.

. Retained (loss) profit - includes all current and prior period retained (loss) profits.

. Treasury shares - refer to accounting policy 1.12

. Hyperinflationary reserve - this is the effect of all components of shareholders equity that are restated by applying a general

price index from the beginning period or dates on which those items arose.
1.12 Treasury shares

The Group operates a share incentive scheme classified as treasury shares and these are presented as a deduction from equity. Dividend
income on treasury shares are eliminated on consolidation.

1.13 Share incentive scheme

The Group introduced an employee share incentive scheme. The shares are held in a trust, Choppies Group Share Incentive Trust, until
they are granted to employees. The shares are held in and remain under the control of the trust until such shares are vested to employees.

On the grant date, fair value of the equity-settled share-incentive scheme arrangements granted to employees is recognised as an expense,
with a corresponding increase in equity (by reducing from the value of Treasury shares) over the vesting period of the awards. The amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service conditions are expected to be met, such
that the amount ultimately recognised is based on the number of awards that meet the related service conditions at the vesting date.

1.14 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised as an expense during the period in which the employee renders the related
service. Employee entitlements to annual leave, bonuses, medical aid and housing benefits are recognised when they accrue to employees
and an accrual is recognised for the estimated liability as a result of services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Severance benefits

Employees who are not members of an approved pension scheme or entitled to gratuities per their employee contracts, are entitled to
severance benefits as regulated by the Botswana Labour Laws. An accrual is recognised for the estimated liability for services rendered by
the employees up to reporting date, this is related to other long term employee benefits.

Gratuity

The Group operates a gratuity scheme for expatriates in terms of employment contracts and a gratuity is not considered to be a retirement
benefit plan as the benefits are payable on completion of the employment contract period of continuous employment or on termination of
employment at the option of the employee. The expected gratuity liability is provided in full by way of accrual.

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and

has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to approved defined contribution plans are
recognised as personnel expenses in the profit or loss in the periods during which the related services were rendered.
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1.15 Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue arises mainly from the sale of goods. Revenue is measured based on the transaction price specified in a contract with a customer
and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control of a product or goods to

a customer, generally upon the customer collecting the goods.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a 5-step process:

. Identifying the contract with a customer

. Identifying the performance obligations

. Determining the transaction price

. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied.

The Group often enters into transactions involving a range of the Company's products and goods, for example for the sale of consumer
goods. In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the various performance obligations based on their
relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised at a point in time, when the Group satisfies performance obligations by transferring the promised goods to its
customers. The Group does not consider the financing component since the transfer of goods and related payments are not more than 12
months apart.

1.16 Translation of foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Botswana Pula at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities designated in foreign currencies are subsequently translated to Botswana Pula at the foreign exchange rate
ruling at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are consistently translated at rates of exchange ruling at acquisition dates.
Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the profit or loss.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, which are not entities operating in a hyperinflationary economy, including goodwill and fair
value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated at foreign exchange rates ruling at the reporting date. The revenues and expenses
of foreign operations are translated at the weighted average rate of exchange for the year, except to the extent that the translation
differences are allocated to NCI. Profits or losses arising on the translation of assets and liabilities of foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and presented within equity and shown separately in a foreign currency translation reserve.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially such that control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve
related to that foreign operation is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Translation of foreign operations in hyperinflationary economies

The fiscal and monetary policy pronouncements made in October 2018 led to the directors’ reassessment of the functional currency of the
Group’s Zimbabwe operations and a justification to conclude that, under IAS 21 Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, there was a
change in the functional currency from the United States Dollar to the Zimbabwe Dollar.

The results of the Zimbabwe operations are translated at the closing rate on 30 June 2021 as per IAS 21 paragraph 42(a).
1.17 Determination of functional currency in Zimbabwe

Items included in the financial statements of the Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the functional currency). The functional currency of the Zimbabwean subsidiary is the Zimbabwean Dollar (ZWLS)
which became legal tender on 24 June 2019. The Group has concluded that the functional currency of the Zimbabwean economy remains
the Zimbabwean Dollar (ZWLS). During the year, the Group noted that there was still constrained exchangeability between the Zimbabwe
Dollar (ZWLS) and the major foreign currencies such as the United States Dollar (USS) and the Botswana Pula (BWP). A lack of or
constrained exchangeability arises if an entity is unable to readily exchange a currency for another currency through the legal exchange
mechanism within a reasonably short period of time.
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1.17 Determination of functional currency in Zimbabwe (continued)

In order to address the lack of exchangeability of the ZWLS towards major currencies, on 23 June 2020, the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe
introduced a market based foreign exchange trading platform in the form of a foreign currency auction system in order to bring
transparency and efficiency in the trading of foreign currency in the Zimbabwean economy. The Company has managed to submit bids on
the foreign exchange auction and was successful in some of them leading the directors to decide that the published weighted average
closing auction foreign exchange rate is appropriate for the translation of the results of operations of the Zimbabwean Subsidiary.

Accounting for hyper-inflationary subsidiary

The Zimbabwean economy has continued to be hyper-inflationary and the results of operations of the Zimbabwean subsidiary has been
prepared in accordance with IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyper-inflationary Economies” (IAS 29). IAS 29 requires that financial
statements prepared in the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy be stated in terms of a measuring unit current at the reporting date
and the corresponding figures for the previous periods be stated in the same terms to the latest reporting date. The restatement has been
calculated by means of conversion factors derived from month on month consumer price index (CPI) prepared by the Zimbabwe Statistical
Agency. The indices and conversion factors used to restate the financial statements as at 30 June 2022 are as follows:

Date Indices Conversion factor
30 June 2022 8707.40 1.00
30 June 2021 2986.40 2.916

Sensitivity of functional currency

The Group translated the Zimbabwe results by applying the closing exchange rate as at 30 June 2022 specified by Reserve Bank of
Zimbabwe, which was BWP 1.00 : ZWL 29.45 (2021: BWP 7.83) (in line with the requirement of the provision of IAS 21 for the translation of
hyperinflationary economies). The effect if the Group had applied a weaker closing exchange rate to translate the result of its Zimbabwean
subsidiary on 30 June 2022, is presented in the table below. We assumed that the closing exchange rate was weaker by ZWL 1.00.

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the ZWL to BWP ZWL to BWP
year ended 30 June 2022 at closing at closing rate

rate plus ZWL 1.00 Net impact
Revenue 775 326 749 862 25 464
Profit after tax 23271 764 22506

Plant and equipment

The original cost of plant and equipment is restated from the date of purchase of each item to the reporting date using the applicable
general price index. The depreciation charge for the current period is calculated on the basis of the restated plant and equipment. Opening
accumulated depreciation is also calculated on the basis of the restated plant and equipment.

Additions to plant and equipment are restated using the relevant conversion factors from the date of the transaction to the reporting date.
For disposals, the original date of purchase and the historical cost is determined and the restated balance is deducted from the plant and
equipment. There are no plant and equipment purchased prior to the financial year 2009.

The restated plant and equipment are assessed for impairment of assets in accordance with IAS 36.
Inventories

Inventories are restated based on the ageing of the items using the increase in the general price index for the period from purchase dates
to the reporting date.

All items in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are restated by applying the relevant monthly conversion
factors.
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1.17 Determination of functional currency in Zimbabwe (continued)
Shareholders’ Equity

All components of shareholders equity are restated by applying a general price index from the beginning period or dates on which those
items arose. Current year restated net income is added to the balance of restated opening retained earnings.

Comparative financial statements are restated by applying the general price index in terms of the measuring unit at the reporting date.

The effect of inflation on the net monetary position is included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as a
monetary gain or loss on the monetary position

All items in the statement of cash flow are expressed in terms of the measuring unit current at the reporting date.
1.18 Operating expenses

Operating expenses are recognised in the profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or as incurred.

1.19 Agency fees and commission

Commission from rendering of financial services and agency services is recognised over time as the services are provided in accordance
with the terms of the agency agreement and is included in other income.

1.20 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established. This is on the “last day to trade” for listed shares,
and on the “date of declaration” for unlisted shares.

1.21 Rebates from suppliers

Consistent with standard industry practice, the Group has agreements with suppliers whereby volume-related allowances, promotional
and marketing allowances and various other fees and discounts are received in connection with the purchase of goods for resale from
those suppliers. Most of the income received from suppliers relates to adjustments to a core cost price of a product, and as such is
considered part of the purchase price for that product. Sometimes receipt of the income is conditional on the Group performing specified
actions or satisfying certain performance conditions associated with the purchase of the product. These include achieving agreed
purchases or sales volume targets and providing promotional or marketing materials and activities or promotional product positioning.

Rebates from suppliers is recognised when earned by the Group, which occurs when all obligations conditional for earning income have
been discharged, and the income can be measured reliably based on the terms of the contract. The income is recognised as a credit within
cost of sales. Where the income earned relates to inventories which are held by the Group at period ends, the income is included within
the cost of those inventories, and recognised in cost of sales upon sale of those inventories.

Amounts due relating to rebates from suppliers are recognised within trade and other receivables, except in cases where the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off and intends to offset amounts due from suppliers against amounts owed to those
suppliers, in which case only the net amount receivable or payable is recognised. Accrued rebates are recognised within accrued income
when rebates earned have not been invoiced at reporting date.

1.22 Profit or loss from discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that either has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale. Profit or loss from
discontinued operations comprises the post-tax profit or loss of discontinued operations and the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell or on the disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued operation.

1.23 Finance income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues in the profit or loss using the effective interest method.
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1.24 Finance cost
Interest cost is recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which these expenses are incurred using the effective interest method.
1.25 Operating segments

The Group discloses segmental financial information which is being used internally by the entity’s chief executive officer (“CEQ”) in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. Operating segments are individual components of an entity that engage in business activities
from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, and whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s CEO and for which
discrete financial information is available. Operating segments, per geographical regions, are aggregated for reporting purposes. The
aggregated businesses in each region have similar economic characteristics. They engaged in similar activities of retail trade.

1.26 Dividend per share

Dividends per share are calculated based on the dividends declared during the year compared to the number of ordinary shares in issue at
the time of declaration.

1.27 Basic earnings and Headline earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) and headline earnings per share (“HEPS”) information for its ordinary
shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss after taxation attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss after
taxation attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares. Headline earnings are calculated in accordance with Circular 1/2021 issued by the South African Institute
of Chartered Accountants as required by the Johannesburg Stock Exchange Listings Requirements.

1.28 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of consolidated and separate annual financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management, from time to
time, to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. These estimates and associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any
future periods affected.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group follows the guidance of IFRS 9 to determine when a financial asset is impaired. The loss allowances for financial assets are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the
inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period (refer to note 24).

Allowance for slow moving, damaged and obsolete inventory

The Group assesses whether inventory is impaired by comparing its cost to its estimated net realisable value. Where an impairment is
necessary, inventory items are written down to net realisable value. The write down is included in cost of sales 5.

Fair value estimation
Several assets and liabilities of the Group are either measured at fair value or disclosure is made of their fair values.

The carrying value of trade receivables (less expectd credit losses) and trade payables are assumed to approximate their fair values.
Information about the specific techniques and inputs of the various assets and liabilities is disclosed in note 41.
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1.28 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment testing

The Group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. When such indicators exist, the Company determine the recoverable amount by performing value in use and fair value
calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. When it is not possible to determine the recoverable
amount for an individual asset, management assesses the recoverable amount for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group assess the appropriateness of the useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporting period. The useful
lives of buildings, plant and equipment, office equipment, furniture and fixtures, motor vehicles, IT equipment, leasehold improvements
and aircraft are determined based on Group replacement policies for the various assets. Individual assets within these classes, which have
a significant carrying amount are assessed separately to consider whether replacement will be necessary outside of normal replacement
parameters. The useful lives of property, plant and equipment is assessed annually based on a combination of comparison to industry,
assessment of operational plans and strategies, actual experience and taking cognisance of advice from external experts.

Restricted cash

We no longer consider cash deposits relating to the Zimbabwe operations as restricted as we are able to expatriate funds to Botswana.
Business combinations

The Group uses valuation techniques when determining the fair values of certain assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination.
In particular, the fair value of contingent consideration is dependent on the outcome of many variables including the acquiree's future
profitability.

Use of adjusted measures

Adjusted EBITDA in the operating segmental information is EBITDA excluding foreign exchange rate differences on IFRS16 lease liabilities,
profit or loss on sale of assets, Zimbabwean legacy debt receipts (see note 11) as well as income or expenditure of a capital nature.

The Adjusted EBITDA measure is shown as management believes them to be relevant to the understanding of the Group’s financial
performance. This measure is used for internal performance analysis and provide additional useful information on underlying trends to
equity holders. This measure is not a defined term under IFRS and may therefore not be comparable with similarly titled measures
reported by other entities. It is not intended to be a substitute for, or superior to, measures as required by IFRS.

34



Choppies Enterprises Limited

(Registration number BW00001142508)
Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022

Operating segment information

Figures in Pula million

2. Segment results
Operating segments are identified based on financial information regularly reviewed by the Choppies Enterprises Limited Chief
Executive Officer (identified as the chief operating decision maker of the Group for IFRS 8 reporting purposes) for performance

assessments and resource allocations.

The Group has four continuing operating segments (2021: four) as described below, which are the Group’s strategic divisions.
Operating segments are disclosed by geographical regions.

Performance is measured based on EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and EBIT as the board believes that such information is the most relevant
in evaluating the results of the segments against each other and other entities which operate within the retail industry.

Botswana — retail of fast-moving consumer goods in Botswana.
Rest of Africa - retail of fast-moving consumer goods in Namibia, Zambia and Zimbabwe.

30 June 2022

Rest of Africa comprises of Namibia, Zambia and Zimbabwe

Statement of profit or loss and other Botswana Rest of Africa Namibia Zambia Zimbabwe Total Group

comprehensive Income

Revenue 4254 1843 276 786 781 6 097
Retail sales 4209 1833 275 783 775 6042
Adjusted EBITDA 405 101 5 59 37 506
Movement in credit loss allowance (2) (5) - - (5) (7)
Loss on disposal of plant & equipment (2) - - - - (2)
Foreign exchange gains/(losses) on lease liability 28 28 - 28
Losses relating to South African operations (20) - - - - (20)
Foreign exchange gains on Zimbabwean legacy debt - 15 - - 15 15
receipts

EBITDA 381 139 5 87 47 520
Depreciation and amortisation (190) (51) (14) (21) (16) (241)
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) 191 88 (9) 66 31 279

Statement of financial position

Assets 1223 663 141 260 262 1886
Liabilities 1121 1106 200 394 512 2227

The Zambian and Zimbabwean operating segments are now identified as a reportable segment in the current period due to their
contribution to revenue exceeding the quantitative threshold of ten percent. The prior period segment data presented for comparative
purposes have been restated to reflect the new reportable segments. By default the Namibia operating segment is disclosed despite its
contribution to revenue not exceeding the quantitative threshold of ten percent. The prior-period segment data presented for
comparative purposes have been restated to reflect Adjusted EBITDA.
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30 June 2021

Statement of profit or loss and other Botswana Rest of Africa Namibia Zambia Zimbabwe Total Group

comprehensive Income

Revenue 4188 1188 154 495 539 5376
Retail sales 4145 1186 154 495 537 5331
Adjusted EBITDA 431 56 4 40 12 487
Movement in credit loss allowance 17 - - - - 17
Foreign exchange gains/(losses) on lease liability (19) (19) - (19)
EBITDA 448 37 4 21 12 485
Depreciation and amortisation (201) (58) (10) (38) (10) (259)
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) 247 (21) (6) (17) 2 226
Statement of financial position

Assets 1225 479 100 151 228 1704
Liabilities 1198 954 144 336 474 2152
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3. New Standards and Interpretations
3.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the Group has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current financial year and
that are relevant to its operations:

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 7

The amendment sets out additional disclosure requirements related to interest rate benchmark reform.

The effective date of the Group is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2021.

The Group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2022 consolidated and separate annual financial statements.

The impact of the amendment requires additional disclosure only.

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 9

When there is a change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability that is required by
interest rate benchmark reform then the entity is required to apply paragraph B5.4.5 as a practical expedient. This expedient is only
available for such changes in basis of determining contractual cash flows.

The effective date of the Group is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2021.

The amendment did not have an impact on the Group and Company's consolidated and separate financial statements since the actual
replacement of LIBOR has not yet taken place. The amendment is only expected to impact the Group for the first time in 2023 when the
publication of one month UK LIBOR rates cease.

3.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory for
the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 July 2022 or later periods:

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current - Amendment to IAS 1
The amendment changes the requirements to classify a liability as current or non-current. If an entity has the right at the end of the
reporting period, to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period, then the liability is classified as

non-current.

If this right is subject to conditions imposed on the entity, then the right only exists, if, at the end of the reporting period, the entity has
complied with those conditions.

In addition, the classification is not affected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. Therefore, if the right
exists, the liability is classified as non-current even if management intends or expects to settle the liability within twelve months of the
reporting period. Additional disclosures would be required in such circumstances.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2023.

The Group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2024 consolidated and separate annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the Group's consolidated and separate annual financial statements as the
classification of liabilities is unlikely to change as a result of this amendment.

Annual Improvement to IFRS Standards 2018-2020: Amendments to IFRS 9

The amendment concerns fees in the '10 per cent' test for derecognition of financial liabilities. Accordingly, in determining the relevant
fees, only fees paid or received between the borrower and the lender are to be included.
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3.  New Standards and Interpretations (continued)
The effective date of the Group is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2022.
The Group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2023 consolidated and separate annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the Group's consolidated and separate annual financial statements as no
unusual modifications subject to the '10% test' impacting financial libilities have taken or are expected to take place.

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use: Amendments to IAS 16

The amendment relates to examples of items which are included in the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment. Prior to the
amendment, the costs of testing whether the asset is functioning properly were included in the cost of the asset after deducting the net
proceeds of selling any items which were produced during the test phase. The amendment now requires that any such proceeds and the

cost of those items must be included in profit or loss in accordance with the related standards. Disclosure of such amounts in now
specifically required.

The effective date of the Group is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2022.
The Group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2023 consolidated and separate annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the Group's consolidated and separate annual financial statements as no
income is earned with plant and equipment during its construction phase..

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract: Amendments to IAS 37
The amendment defined the costs that are included in the cost of fulfilling a contract when determining the amount recognised as an
onerous contract. It specifies that the cost of fulfilling a contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract. These are both the

incremental costs of fulfilling the contract as well as an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (for example
depreciation allocation).

The effective date of the Group is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2022.
The Group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2023 consolidated and separate annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the Group's consolidated and separate annual financial statements as no
onerous contracts currently exist.
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Group Company
Figures in Pula million 2022 2021 2022 2021
4, Revenue
Revenue from contracts with customers
Sale of goods 6042 5331 - -
Other operating income
Commission received on financial services 32 29 - -
Rental income 4 3 - -
Transportation income 11 8 - -
Miscellaneous income 3 4 - -
Effect of hyper-inflation accounting 5 1 - -
55 45 - -
6 097 5376 - -
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by segment
The Group disaggregates revenue from customers as follows:
Sale of goods
Botswana 4209 4 145 - -
Namibia 275 154 - -
Zambia 783 495 - -
Zimbabwe 775 537 - -
6042 5331 - -
5. Cost of sales
Sale of goods 4735 4142 - -

Sale of goods include foreign exchange gains of BWP 2 million (2021: BWP 12 million)

6.  Other operating (losses)/gains

Losses on disposals
Property, plant and equipment

(2)
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Group Company
Figures in Pula million 2022 2021 2022 2021

7.  Operating profit (loss)
Operating profit (loss) for the year is stated after charging (crediting) the following, amongst others:

Auditor's remuneration - external
Audit fees 8 13 - -

Consulting and professional fees

Consulting and professional service fees 14 12 - -
Legal fees 1 5 - -
15 17 - -

Employee costs

Basic 377 362 - -
Retirement benefit plans 12 11 - -
Share-based payments 1 - - -
Total employee costs 390 373 - -
Leases
Variable lease payments 8 8 - -
Gain on rental concession (9) (12) - -
(1) (4) - -

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 84 88 - -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 154 168 - -
Amortisation of intangible assets 3 2 - -
Total depreciation and amortisation 241 258 - -

Movement in credit loss allowances
Trade and other receivables 7 (17) 30 3

The current year impairment in the Company relates to the Choppies Group Incentive Share Trust. Refer to note 19.
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Group Company

Figures in Pula million 2022 2021 2022 2021
8.  Administration expenses
Auditors remuneration 8 13 - -
Bank charges 49 50 - -
Computer expenses 25 23 - -
Consulting and professional fees 14 12 - -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 154 168 - -
Donations 1 1 - -
Electricity and water charges 109 106 - -
Employee costs 390 373 - -
Effect of hyper-inflation accounting (25) 15 - -
Insurance 16 14 - -
Legal fees 1 5 - -
Motor vehicle expenses 35 29 - -
Other expenses 23 20 - -
Security 35 32 - -
Short term leases (9) (12) - -
Variable lease payments 8 8 - -

834 857 - -
9. Selling and distribution expenses
Advertising 20 12 - -
Effect of hyper-inflation accounting 10 - - -
Travel and accommodation 5 4 - -

35 16 - -

10. Other expenses
Amortisation 3 2 - -
Depreciation 84 88 - -
Effect of hyper-inflation accounting 83 1 - -
Repairs and maintenance 50 43 - -

220 134 - -
11. Foreign exchange gains on Zimbabwean legacy debt receipts
Foreign exchange gains on Zimbabwean legacy debt receipts (15) - - -

In February 2009, the Government of Zimbabwe introduced the multicurrency system which had the United States Dollar (US$) as its base
currency. As time progressed, the Zimbabwe economy started experiencing foreign currency shortages on the market as there was an
increase in the use of electronic settlement platforms namely, Real Time Gross Settlement (RTGS) platforms. A monetary policy measure
introduced in October 2018 directing the separation of foreign currency accounts (FCAs) into two categories namely RTGS FCA and Nostro
FCA at a parity rate of 1:1.

The Government of Zimbabwe through another policy measure issued Statutory Instrument 33 (SI 33 of 2019) which introduced the RTGS
Dollar which physical denominations in bond notes and coins at a base rate of USS1: ZWLS$2.5. The introduction of the currency and its
addition to the multicurrency basket brought about the interbank market which was to function on a willing buyer, willing seller basis. The
enacting instrument gave a legal requirement for accounting treatment of local assets and liabilities denominated in United States Dollars
(USS) to be transferred to Zimbabwe Dollars (ZWLS) at parity.
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Figures in Pula million 2022 2021 2022 2021

11. Foreign exchange gains on Zimbabwean legacy debt receipts (continued)

One of the safeguards introduced by the Monetary Policy Statement in order to maintain stability in the Zimbabwean foreign currency
market was that all foreign liabilities or legacy debts due to suppliers and service providers, as well as declared dividends would be treated
separately. These foreign liabilities or legacy debts transactions would be registered with the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe Exchange Control
Division for the purposes of providing the Reserve Bank sufficient information to determine the roadmap to expunge them in an orderly
manner. In order to operationalise the Monetary Policy Statement, the Reserve Bank issued Exchange Control Directive RU28/2019 which
provided the Blocked Funds Framework that contained guidelines to be followed in the registration of foreign liabilities or legacy debts.
Exchange Control Directive RU102/2019 published in September directed banking institutions to transfer all RTGSS balances in relation to
registered legacy debts to the Reserve Bank.

In 2021, the Government of Zimbabwe assumed the obligation to settle these Blocked Funds in terms of Part Xlll of the Finance Act No. 7
of 2021. The Group proceeded to transfer the ZWL equivalent of the legacy debt at a rate of USS/ZWL1:1 to the RBZ as per requirement of
the Exchange Control directive RU 28 of 2019 amounting to ZWL$29,624,114.07. In this regard, the Group received communication from
the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe dated 4 May 2022 to the effect that an amount of US$29,624,114.07 had been successfully registered with
the Bank’s Exchange Control division as blocked funds to be paid in monthly instalments of US$125,000 per week until it has been paid in
full, which is expected to be August 2027.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had received an amount of U5$500,000 and ZWL$286,682,079. Prior to RBZ’s communication, the legacy
debts had been accounted for at the prevailing auction rate. The Group has continued to carry the legacy debts at the prevailing auction
rate as they view this as prudent given Zimbabwe’s perennial shortages of foreign currency. Any resulting gains from the United States
Dollar receipts from the RBZ in settling the debts have been accounted for in the profit or loss on receipt as a foreign exchange gain
separately on the face of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Summary of receipts

Received in ZWLS 9 - - R
Received in USS 6 - - -
15 - - -

12. Finance costs

Shareholders loans 6 6 - -
Lease liabilities 56 56 - -
Bank overdraft 37 48 - -
Total finance costs 99 110 - -
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Figures in Pula million 2022 2021 2022 2021
13. Taxation
Major components of the tax expense
Current
Income tax - current period 38 43 - -
Deferred
Originating and reversing temporary differences (3) (9) - -
35 34 - -
Reconciliation of the tax expense
Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense.
Accounting profit/(loss) 180 116 (30) (3)
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 22% (2021: 22%) 40 26 (7) (1)
Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income
Unrecognised deferred tax asset (15) 12 - -
Disallowed expenses 4 1 - 554
Effects of different tax rates 6 (5) - -
35 34 (7) 553

The tax losses carried forward for certain subsidiaries are BWP 225 million (2021: BWP 184 million) which can be claimed by these
subsidiaries to reduce future tax payments. These losses cannot be offset across different legal entities and can be carried forward no
longer than 5 years.

The tax losses carried forward per expiry date are as follows:

2022 16 - - -
2021 86 61 - -
2020 77 53 - -
2019 51 33 - -
2019 and prior 25 38 - -

255 185 - -

14. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (thebe) - continuing operations 107 65 - -
Basic earnings per share (thebe) - discontinued operations - (13) - -
107 52 - -
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14. Earnings per share (continued)
Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (thebe) - continuing operations 107 65 - -
Basic earnings per share (thebe) - discontinued operations - (13) - -
107 52 - -
Profit or loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the
parent
Continuing operations 140 85 - -
Discontinued operations - (16) - -
140 69 - -

Headline earnings and diluted headline earnings per share

The calculation of headline earnings and diluted headline earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares

in issue during the year.

Headline earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (thebe) - continuing operations
Basic earnings per share (thebe) - discontinued operations

Diluted headline earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (thebe) - continuing operations
Basic earnings per share (thebe) - discontinued operations

Headline earnings

124

65

124

65

124

65

124

65

2022

2021

Group Gross
Profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

Income tax Net
effect

Gross

Income tax
effect

Net

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Re-measurement:

Loss of disposal of property, plant and 2
equipment

Contingent consideration on sale of 20
South African operations

Impairment losses

140

14

14

Headline earnings/(loss)

162

85
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2022

2021 2022 2021

14. Earnings per share (continued)

Continuing operations

Profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

Continuing operations
Re-measurement:

Loss of disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Contingent consideration on sale of
South African operations

Headline earnings

Discontinued operations

Profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company
Discontinued operations
Re-measurement:

Loss of disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Impairment losses

Headline loss

Adjusted for:

2022

2021

Gross

Income tax Net
effect

Gross

Income tax Net
effect

20

140

20

85

162

85

2022

2021

Gross

Income tax Net
effect

Gross

Income tax Net
effect

(16) (16)

14 - 14

Reconciliation of weighted average number of ordinary shares used for
earnings per share to weighted average number of ordinary shares used

for diluted earnings per share

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used for basic earnings per

share - 000's

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 June

Adjusted for:

1303628

1303628 - -

1303 628

1303 628 - -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used for basic earnings per

share - 000's
Options - 000's

1303628

975

1303628 - -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 June - 000's

1304 603

1303 628 - -
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15. Property, plant and equipment
Group 2022 2021

Cost Accumulated Carrying value Cost Accumulated Carrying value

depreciation depreciation

Leasehold improvements 57 (23) 34 54 (20) 34
Plant and machinery 603 (350) 253 554 (316) 238
Furniture and fixtures 189 (131) 58 184 (116) 68
Motor vehicles 208 (116) 92 199 (123) 76
Office equipment 107 (80) 27 107 (73) 34
IT equipment 149 (110) 39 127 (106) 21
Aircraft 58 (23) 35 58 (22) 36
Total 1371 (833) 538 1283 (776) 507
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Figures in Pula million 2022 2021 2022 2021
15. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Group - 2022

Leasehold Plantand  Furniture and Motor vehicles Office  IT equipment Aircraft Total

improvements machinery fixtures equipment
Opening balance
Cost 54 554 184 199 107 127 58 1283
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (20) (316) (116) (123) (73) (106) (22) (776)
Net book value at 01 July 2021 34 238 68 76 34 21 36 507
Additions 3 34 12 48 - 23 - 120
Disposals and scrappings - cost - - - (31) - - - (31)
Disposals and scrappings - accumulated depreciation - - - 22 - - 22
Hyperinflation - cost 12 31 6 (2) - 5 - 52
Hyperinflation - accumulated depreciation (5) (18) (7) (4) - 3 - (31)
Foreign exchange movements - cost (12) (16) (13) (6) - (6) - (53)
Foreign exchange movements - accumulated depreciation 5 20 4 5 - 4 - 38
Depreciation (3) (36) (12) (16) (7) (11) (1) (86)
Net book value at 30 June 2022 34 253 58 92 27 39 35 538
Made up as follows:
Cost 57 603 189 208 107 149 58 1371
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (23) (350) (131) (116) (80) (110) (23) (833)
34 253 58 92 27 39 35 538
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15. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Group - 2021

Leasehold Plantand  Furniture and Motor vehicles Office  IT equipment Aircraft Total

improvements machinery fixtures equipment
Opening balance
Cost 50 506 163 192 105 114 58 1188
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (11) (244) (97) (1112) (62) (87) (21) (633)
Net book value at 01 July 2020 39 262 66 81 43 27 37 555
Additions 3 24 4 19 1 5 - 56
Acquisitions - cost - - 3 1 1 1 - 6
Acquisitions - accumulated depreciation - - (2) (1) (1) (1) - (5)
Disposals and scrappings - cost - (9) - (20) - - - (29)
Disposals and scrappings - accumulated depreciation - - - 14 - - - 14
Hyperinflation - cost 7 57 16 9 - 11 - 100
Hyperinflation - accumulated depreciation (8) (41) (6) (9) - (9) - (73)
Foreign exchange movements - cost (6) (24) (2) (2) - (4) - (38)
Foreign exchange movements - accumulated depreciation - 5 - 1 - 2 - 8
Depreciation (1) (36) (12) (17) (10) (12) (1) (87)
Net book value at 30 June 2021 34 238 68 76 34 21 36 507
Made up as follows:
Cost 54 554 184 199 107 127 58 1283
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (20) (316) (116) (123) (73) (106) (22) (776)
34 238 68 76 34 21 36 507
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2022

2021 2022 2021

15. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment encumbered as security

The following assets have been encumbered as security for the secured long-term borrowings note 31:

The Group entered into a Loan Facilities Agreement during the 2021 reporting period which was secured by a cross-company guarantee
issued by Choppies Enterprises Limited and its subsidiaries and a deed of hypothecation in favour of the lenders over movable assets
limited to BWP 636 million issued by Choppies Enterprises Limited and its subsidiaries. At the reporting date BWP 516 million of these
facilities were utilised. Refer to notes 26 and 31 for further disclosure of the facilities.

Net carrying amounts of leased assets

Impairment and reversal of impairment

During the current year no impairment indicators were identified relating to buildings and plant and machinery. There is no impairment for
the period under review for buildings (2021: BWP Nil) and plant and machinery BWP Nil (2021: BWP Nil).

16. Right-of-use assets

Group 2022 2021
Cost Accumulated Carrying value Cost Accumulated Carrying value
depreciation depreciation
Right-of-use - buildings 1046 (449) 597 902 (322) 580
Reconciliation of right-of-use asset
Group Company

Figures in Pula million 2022 2021 2022 2021
Cost 902 821 - -
Accumulated depreciation (322) (158) - -
Net book value at 01 July 580 663 - -
Additions 162 119 - -
Disposals - cost - (13) - -
Disposals - accumulated depreciation - 2 - -
Foreign exchange movements - cost (6) (38) - -
Foreign exchange movements - accumulated depreciation (6) (1) - -
Effects of hyperinflation - cost (12) 15 - -
Effects of hyperinflation - accumulated depreciation 34 (1) - -
Depreciation (155) (166) - -

597 580 - -
Comprising of:
Cost 1046 902 - -
Accumulated depreciation (449) (322) - -

597 580 - -
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16. Right-of-use assets (continued)
Other disclosures
Interest expense on lease liabilities 56 56 - -
Gain on rental concession (9) (12) - -
Variable lease payments 8 8 - -
17. Goodwill
Group 2022 2021
Cost  Accumulated Carrying value Cost  Accumulated Carrying value
impairment impairment
Goodwill 48 - 48 60 - 60
Group Company
Figures in Pula million 2022 2021 2022 2021
Cost 60 61 - -
Effects of hyperinflation accounting 31 22 - -
Effects of movement in exchange rates (43) (23) - -
48 60 - .
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Figures in Pula million 2022 2021 2022 2021

17. Goodwill (continued)

The valuation of goodwill at the reporting date was determined by comparing the value in use of the cash generating units (“CGUs”), that
the goodwill is allocated to, the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities within the CGUs. The value in use is determined by comparing
the present value of estimated incremental future cash flows to the carrying amount. This was based on five-year cash flow projections
based on the most recent budgets approved by the Board and extrapolations of cash flows. The Group has assessed the impact of COVID-
19 on its business and has no reason to believe it has materially affected the business as it is classified as essential services. The growth
rates incorporated in the projections do not exceed the average long-term growth rates for the market in which the CGU operates.

No Impairment indicators were identified relating to goodwill.

Group Company
Figures in Pula million 2022 2021 2022 2021
Goodwill is allocated to the CGUs (mainly individual stores)
of the main operations as follows:
Goodwill
Nanavac Investments (Pvt) Limited (Zimbabwe) 48 59 - -

The following assumptions were applied in the evaluation of goodwill discount rate is 22% (2021: 14%-22%).

Group Company
Figures in Pula million 2022 2021 2022 2021
Average sales growth rate
In Zimbabwe 30 10
Terminal value growth rate 2.4 2.4
Group Company
Figures in Pula million 2022 2021 2022 2021
Five year average inflation rate
In Zimbabwe 50 50
Group Company
Figures in Pula million 2022 2021 2022 2021
Five year gross profit margin
In Zimbabwe - percentage 21.0 22.8

The value-in-use calculations and impairment reviews are sensitive to changes in key assumptions, particularly relating to discount rates
and cash flow growth. A sensitivity analysis has been performed based on changes in key assumptions. The following key assumptions
would need to change by the amounts as disclosed below, assuming all other assumptions remained constant, in order for the estimated
recoverable amounts of the CGUs to equal their carrying amounts:

. an increase in the discount rate between 40% and 70% depending on the CGU;

. a decrease in terminal value growth rate between 100% and 130% depending on the CGU.
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18. Intangible assets
Group 2022 2021

Cost  Accumulated Carrying value Cost Accumulated Carrying value

amortisation amortisation
Computer software 32 (28) 4 31 (26) 5
Reconciliation of intangible assets - Group
Group Company
Figures in Pula million 2022 2021 2022 2021
Cost 30 28 - -
Accumulated amortisation (12) (10) - -
Accumulated impairment (13) (13) - -
Net book value at 01 July 5 5 - -
Additions 2 2 - -
Amortisation (3) (2) - -
4 5 - -
Comprising of:
Cost 32 30 - -
Accumulated amortisation (15) (12) - -
Accumulated impairment (13) (13) - -
4 5 - -

19. Investments in subsidiaries

Choppies Enterprises Limited held the below interests in the stated capital of subsidiaries consolidated into these financial statements. The

Company has 9 (2021: 9) subsidiaries, 7 (2021: 7) of which were operating during the financial year.

. 4 (2021: 4) subsidiaries are wholly owned including Choppies Group Share Incentive Trust Scheme.
. The other 5 (2021: 5) subsidiaries are majority held.

Choppies Group Share Incentive Trust Scheme

Choppies Group share incentive trust scheme is termed as a subsidiary mainly due to the control exercised by the Company over its
management. The trust does not have any capital or equity fund which is owned by the Company. Details of the movement of the trust is
given in note 28. The value mentioned towards the trust is the cost of shares transferred to the Trust for its management as per the

provisions of trust deed.

Opening balance at the beginning of the year
Impairment during the year

Closing balance

- - 104 104
- - (30) -
- - 74 104
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19. Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

The following table lists the entities which are controlled directly by the Company, and the carrying amounts of the investments in the
Company's separate financial statements.

Company
Name of company % holding % holding  Carrying Carrying
2022 2021 amount 2022 amount 2021
Choppies Distribution Centre (Pty) Limited 100 % 100 % 74 74
Choppies Supermarkets Namibia (Pty) Limited 100 % 100 % - -
Choppies Supermarkets Tanzania Limited 75 % 75 % 13 13
Choppies Supermarkets Tanzania Limited-Impairment (13) (13)
Choppies Enterprises Kenya Limited 75 % 75 % 179 179
Choppies Enterprises Kenya Limited - impairment (179) (179)
Choppies Distribution Centre Kenya Limited 75 % 75 % - -
Choppies Group Share Incentive Trust Scheme (Note 1) 100 % 100 % - 30
Choppies Supermarket Mozambique Limitada 90 % 90 % 34 34
Choppies Supermarket Mozambique Limitada - impairment (34) (34)
Choppies Supermarkets Limited (Zambia) 90 % 90 % - -
Nanavac Investments (Pvt) Limited 100 % 100 % - -
74 104

Note 1: The loan between the Trust and the Company was impaired at a Company level during the current year.
Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

The following information is provided for subsidiaries with non-controlling interests which are material (5% of total assets) to the reporting
Company. The summarised financial information is provided prior to intercompany eliminations.

Country of % Ownership interest held by
Subsidiary incorporation non-controlling interest
2022 2021

Choppies Supermarkets Limited Zambia 10 % 10 %
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19. Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

2022

Summarised statement of financial position

Choppies Supermarkets Limited

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

Choppies Supermarkets Limited

Summarised statement of cash flows

Choppies Supermarkets Limited

2021

Summarised statement of financial position

Choppies Supermarkets Limited

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

Choppies Supermarkets Limited

Summarised statement of cash flows

Choppies Supermarkets Limited

Non Current Total Non Current Total  Carrying amount of
current assets assets current liabilities liabilities  Non-controlling
assets liabilities interest
163 97 260 101 293 394 (13)
Revenue Profit/(loss) Profit (loss) Total  Non-controlling
before tax after taxcomprehensive interest
income
783 53 53 5 5

Cash flow from Cash flow from Cash flow from  Net increase

operating investing financing (decrease) in
activities activities activities cash flow
99 (42) (22) 36
Non Current Total Non Current Total Carrying amount
current assets assets current liabilities liabilities of Non-controlling
assets liabilities interest
95 56 151 92 244 336 (18)
Revenue Profit before Profit (loss) Other  Non-controlling
tax after tax comprehensive interest
income
(495) (29) (29) (3) (30)

Net increase
(decrease) in
cash flow

Cash flow from Cash flow from Cash flow from
operating investing financing
activities activities activities

16 (13) (27) (25)
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19. Investments in subsidiaries (continued)
Assessment of investments in subsidiaries for impairment

The Company assesses investments in subsidiaries for potential impairment when their impairment indicators have been identified. The
Company assesses the current and future financial performance of these subsidiaries, taking into account the Company’s business model (5
year projection). An impairment loss is recognised if a subsidiary does not show a cumulative profitable return over the next five years
from the year end. All investments in subsidiaries are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously
recognised may no longer exist. An impairment loss is reversed if the investments' recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount. Future
performance was assessed based on cash flow projections for the Group's subsidiaries below and the following key assumptions:

Choppies Supermarkets Choppies Supermarkets Choppies Distribution

Limited (Zambia) Namibia (Pty) Limited Centre (Pty) Limited
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Revenue growth rates 8% 10% 18% 9% 6% 6%
Gross profit margins 19% 19% 17% 19% 23% 24%
Inflation rates 10% 10% 6% 5% 8% 2%
Terminal growth rates 5% 5% 5% 5% 6% 6%

The Group reviewed the projections and operations of the regions, namely Botswana, Namibia and Zambia and remains optimistic of the
region as it is showing good growth and value add to the Group. As a result, the Group did not impair these investments in the financial
year 2022 due to the expected positive EBIDTA and increase in value based on future projections.

20. Investments in new projects

These amounts relate to capital expenditure incurred with regard to new stores to be opened in the following financial year. The amounts
are non-current in nature and will be transferred to plant and equipment when the store opens.

Investments in new projects is reconciled as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year 8 10 - -

Amounts reclassified as additions to property, plant and

equipment during the year (15) (10) - -

Capital advanced during the year 13 10 - -

Effects of exchange rates 2 (2) - -
8 8 - -

21. Inventories

Merchandise 472 350 - -
Goods in transit 1 1 - -
473 351 - -
Provision for inventory obsolescence (12) (10) - -
461 341 - -
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year 4735 4142 - -

The Group has identified a misclassification of BWP 44 million between the value of inventory and the value of provisions for obsolescence
as certain valuation adjustments were disclosed as provisions in the 2021 reporting period.

In accordance with IAS 8 requirements, the Group has restated the note for the 2021 reporting period. This was no impact on the
statement of financial position, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity or statement of cash flows.
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22. Amounts due from related parties
Amounts due from related entities
Amounts due from related entities - subsidiaries (note 39) - - 164 168
Amounts due from related entities - other related parties 4 5 - -
4 5 164 168

Transactions with related entities are carried out on mutually agreed terms and conditions in the normal course of business on an arm's
length basis. Refer to note 39 for the details of related party balances and transactions.

All amounts are short-term. The carrying values of amounts due from related entities are considered to be a reasonable approximation of
fair value.

Exposure to credit risk

Amounts due from related entities inherently expose the Group to credit risk, being the risk that the Company will incur financial loss if
counterparties fail to make payments as they fall due.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 general approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for its
amounts due from related entities. This is because the amounts due from related entities are expected to be repaid within the agreed time
(which is normally 30 to 45 days). The amounts due from related entities arise from normal trading activities.

A loss allowance is recognised for all amounts due from related entities, in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, and is monitored
at the end of each reporting period. Amounts due from related entities are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery, for example, when a related entity is placed or has been placed under liquidation. Amounts due from related entities which have
been written off are not subject to enforcement activities.

The Group measures the loss allowance for amounts due from related parties by applying the simplified approach which is prescribed by
IFRS 9. In accordance with this approach, the loss allowance on amounts due from related parties is determined as the lifetime expected
credit losses on amounts due from related parties. These lifetime expected credit losses are estimated using a provision matrix. The
provision matrix has been developed by making use of past default experience of amounts due from related parties but also incorporates
forward looking information and general economic conditions of the industry as at the reporting date. The lifetime ECL (Expected Credit
Loss) is expected to be immaterial or almost nil based on past experience as a result of low risk of default and no amounts are past due.

Amounts due from related entities are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, for example, when a related entity
has been placed under liquidation.

At the Company level, an impairment loss from related parties (subsidiaries) is recognised based on management's assessment of the
related party's inability to repay the amounts advanced in the near future.

23. Advances and deposits

Prepaid expenses 7 3 - -
Rent deposits 9 8 - -
Other deposits 1 1 - -
Electricity deposits 3 3 - -
Advance to suppliers 31 26 - -
Other advances 5 3 - -

56 44 - -

Advances to suppliers are prepayments for inventory and services.
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24. Trade and other receivables
Financial instruments:
Trade receivables 15 11 - 1
Loss allowance (10) (3) - -
Trade receivables at amortised cost 5 8 - 1
Rebate receivable 29 25 - -
Other receivable 32 24 - -
Non-financial instruments:
Value added tax 9 8 - -
Total trade and other receivables 75 65 - 1

Other receivables include balances relating to counterparties for transacting in money transfers, electricity and satellite television
subscriptions.

Financial instrument and non-financial instrument components of trade and other receivables

At amortised cost 66 57 - -
Non-financial instruments 9 8 - -
75 65 - -

Exposure to credit risk

Trade and other receivables inherently expose the Group to credit risk, being the risk that the Group will incur financial loss if customers
fail to make payments as they fall due.

Trade receivables arise from retail sales. Retail trade is located in Botswana, Namibia, Zambia and Zimbabwe. Credit risk is assessed and
monitored internally along these risk concentrations.

The Company is exposed to credit risk if counterparties fail to make payments as they fall due.

The Company applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The Company uses a provision matrix to measure the expected credit loss
(ECL) of trade receivables from various customer groups. Loss rates are calculated using a roll rate method based on the probability of a
receivable progressing through successive stages of delinquency to write-off. Roll rates are calculated separately for exposures in different
segments based on type of clients and products.

A loss allowance is recognised for all trade receivables, in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, and is monitored at the end of
each reporting period. In addition to the loss allowance, trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery, for example, when a debtor has been placed under liquidation.

Credit risk on rebate receivable
These rebates receivable are recovered from supplier payments and the Group does not expect any credit loss. Rebate receivables are
written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, for example, when a debtor has been placed under liquidation.
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24. Trade and other receivables (continued)

The Group's historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments. The
provision for credit losses is therefore based on past due status without disaggregating into further risk profiles. The loss allowance
provision is determined as follows:

Group 2022 2022 2021 2021
Estimated gross Loss allowance Estimated gross Loss allowance

carrying amount (Lifetime carrying amount (Lifetime

Expected credit loss rate: at default expected credit at default expected credit
loss) loss)

Not past due: 71% (2021: 4.7%) 7 (5) 4 -
More than 91 days past due: 100% (2021: 100%) 5 (5) 5 (5)
Specific debtors Payless n/a (2021: 100%) - - 124 (124)
Total 12 (10) 133 (129)

Reconciliation of loss allowances

The following table shows the movement in the loss allowance (lifetime expected credit losses (ECL)) for trade and other receivables:

Opening balance in accordance with IFRS 9 3 129 - -
Provision for ECL current year 7 - - -
Reversal of prior year provision - (2) - -
Bad debts written off - (124) - -
Closing balance 10 3 - -

Fair value of trade and other receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables approximates their carrying amounts.
25. Restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents held by the entity that are not available for use by the Group
Cash and cash equivalents - Restricted cash Zimbabwe - 5 - -

We no longer consider cash deposits relating to the Zimbabwe operations as restricted as we are able to expatriate funds to Botswana.

58



Choppies Enterprises Limited
(Registration number BW00001142508)
Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022

Notes to the Consolidated And Separate Annual Financial Statements

Group Company
Figures in Pula million 2022 2021 2022 2021
26. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash on hand 10 7 - -
Bank balances 75 67 - -
Bank overdraft (68) (68) - -
17 6 - -
Current assets 85 74 - -
Current liabilities (68) (68) - -
17 6 - -

The Company has a cash balance of BWP 437 530.

The Group has the following facilities:

. Facility D - raised during March 2021 with a consortium of banks as described under note 31. Facility D is a BWP 50 million
overdraft facility from Absa Bank Botswana Limited, Stanbic Bank Botswana Limited and First National Bank Botswana Limited,
secured by a cross-company guarantee of BWP 50 million issued by Choppies Enterprises Limited and its subsidiaries and a
deed of hypothecation in favour of the lenders over movable assets limited to BWP 50 million issued by Choppies Enterprises
Limited and its subsidiaries. At the reporting date BWP 49 million of this facility was utilised. The overdraft facility is payable in
full by March 2023.

. BWP 20 million overdraft facility from First Capital Bank Botswana Limited payable July 2022. This facility is unsecured. At the
reporting date BWP 19 million of the facility was utilised.

27. Stated capital

Issued
1303 628 341 issues ordinary shares at no par value 906 906 - -

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Company. All shares rank pari passu with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

28. Treasury shares

The Group operates an employee share incentive scheme. The scheme is operated through a trust known as “Choppies Group Share
Incentive Trust”. The trust was established to provide an incentive to the beneficiaries to encourage and commit them to the future
interest of the Choppies Group and subscribe and hold for and the benefit of the beneficiaries, as directed by the directors from time to
time, until such time that the shares vest in the beneficiaries.

On 22 May 2017, the Group issued 12 000 000 ordinary shares valued at BWP30 720 000, to the Choppies Group Incentive Trust. A total
number of 1 475 000 shares were granted to selected employees on 30 June 2018. These shares remained under the control of the trust
and had a three-year vesting period. There have been no further share grants since 2018. Due to the shares being suspended on both the
Botswana Stock Exchange and JSE, the scheme was suspended, and shares were not transferred to the employees who were still in the
employ of the Company. The board took a decision during the current financial year to reinstate the scheme.

Certain employees are eligible for their share allocation and of the 1 475 000 shares granted, 945 000 had vested and 530 000 were
forfeited. These shares will be transferred to the eligible employees in the next financial year.

The vesting was accounted for according to IFRS 2 resulting in BWP 1.3 million charged to the current year profit and loss. This is calculated
as follows:-
. 975 000 shares valued at BWP 2.4 million (BWP2.50 per share being the market price as at 29 June 2018), less the BWP 1.1
million expensed prior to the schemes suspension.
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28. Treasury shares (continued)
Shares granted in terms of the scheme meet the definition of an equity-settled share-based payments.

Total number of shares issued to the trust by issuing new 12 000 000 12 000 000
share capital

Value of shares held by the trust 29 615 835 29 615 835

29. Hyperinflationary translation reserve

This reserve is used to report the exchange differences on translating subsidiaries which is based in hyperinflationary economy. The
Zimbabwe Dollar (ZWS) functional currency in which one of the subsidiaries operates continues to be hyper-inflationary and the results of

its operations have been prepared in terms of the IAS 29 "Financial Reporting in Hyper-inflationary Economies".

Opening balance 194 160
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations in 75 34
hyperinflationary economy

269 194

30. Foreign currency translation reserve

This reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the results of foreign subsidiaries.

Opening balance (474) (396)
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (113) (75)
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 1 (3)

attributable to non-controlling interest

(586) (474) - -
Foreign currency translation reserve comprises of:
Foreign currency translation reserve - continuing operations (586) (474) - -
Foreign currency translation reserve - discontinued - - - -
operations

(586) (474) - -
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31. Borrowings
Held at amortised cost
Secured
First National Bank Botswana Limited 56 64 - -
Absa Bank Botswana Limited 255 293 - -
Stanbic Bank Botswana Limited 143 163 - -
ABSA Bank South Africa Limited 3 7 - -
Absa Bank Kenya Plc 10 24 - -
Unsecured
Shanta Retail Holding Limited 37 a4 - -
Loan from shareholders 113 107 - -
617 702 - -
Split between non-current and current portions
Non-current liabilities 530 616 - -
Current liabilities 87 86 - -
617 702 - -

Refer to note 36 Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities for details of the movement in the borrowings during the reporting
period and note 41 Financial instruments and financial risk management for the fair value of borrowings.

Absa Bank Botswana Limited, Stanbic Bank Botswana Limited and First National Bank Botswana Limited

Facility End Date ABSA Stanbic FNB Total facility Balance at Balance at

June 2022 June 2021
Facility A1 Feb - 2023 72 000 000 41 000 000 16 000 000 129 000 000 37 060 199 103 286 478
Facility B Feb-2023 150000 000 84 000 000 33000 000 267 000 000 267 000 000 267 000 000
Facility C Mar - 2026 84 000 000 47 000 000 19 000 000 150 000 000 150 000 000 150 000 000
Total 306 000 000 172 000 000 68 000 000 546 000 000 454 060 199 520 286 478

The lenders have made available three term facility loans: -
. Facility Al is repayable by way of monthly equal instalments commencing in March 2021 and ending in February 2023.
. Facility B is repayable by way of monthly equal instalments commencing in March 2023 and ending in February 2026.
. Facility C is repayable in by way of a lump sum in March 2026.

Facility Al is part of a basket of facilities including the Absa Bank of SA loan (facility A2) and Absa Bank of Kenya loan (facility A3) as detailed
in the notes below and the Bank Overdraft (facility D) as detailed in note 26.

Interest is calculated based on the rate of interest on each loan per annum which is the aggregate of the applicable: (a) margin and: (b) the
reference rate, their reference rate being the Botswana prime lending rate. Interest accrues on a day-to-day basis and is calculated based
on 365 days and the actual number of days elapsed on a 365 days per basis. Interest shall accrue on each facility on each interest payment
date. The first interest period shall begin at the utilisation date of each loan.

These loans were used to settle the facility loans from Absa Bank and Stanbic shown under the prior year, in full in March 2021 with the
remaining funds used towards the repayment of the bank overdraft, capital expenditure, operating expenses and general corporate
purposes, including the payment of all fees and expenses relating to the implementation of the facilities.
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31. Borrowings (continued)
Absa South Africa Bank Limited
The lenders have made available a term facility loan: -
Facility End Date Absa Nominal Balance at June Balance at June

ZAR amount BWP 2022 BWP 2021 BWP
Facility A2 Jan-2023 12 129 084 9181 397 2 677 907 7339442

Facility A2 is repayable by way of monthly equal instalments commencing in March 2021 and ending in January 2023.
Interest is calculated based on the rate of interest on each loan per annum which is the aggregate of the applicable: (a) margin and: (b) the
reference rate, their reference rate being the South African prime lending rate. Interest accrues on a day-to-day basis and is calculated

based on 365 days and the actual number of days elapsed on a 365 days per basis. Interest shall accrue on each facility on each interest
payment date. The first interest period shall begin at the utilisation date of each loan.

Absa Bank of Kenya Plc

In the prior year the outstanding balance was transferred to liabilities for disposal group. The facility was for KSH 300 000 000. During the
current financial year the Kenyan Shilling loan was transferred from the Kenyan subsidiary to Botswana and converted to a US Dollar loan.

The lenders have made available a US Dollar term facility loan:

Facility End Date Absa Nominal Balance at June Balance at June
uss amount BWP 2022 BWP 2021 BWP
Facility A3 Feb-2023 2 800 000 34 825 868 10 157 539 24 173 026

Facility A3 is repayable by way of monthly equal instalments commencing in March 2021 and ending in February 2023.

Interest is calculated based on the rate of interest on each loan per annum which is the aggregate of the applicable: (a) margin and: (b) the
reference rate, their reference rate being the Libor lending rate. Interest accrues on a day-to-day basis and is calculated based on 365 days
and the actual number of days elapsed on a 365 days per basis. Interest shall accrue on each facility on each interest payment date. The
first interest period shall begin at the utilisation date of each loan.

Facility loans A to C are subject to financial covenants. Under the terms of the major borrowing facilities, the Botswana Group* is required
to comply with the following financial covenants, calculated on the basis that IAS 17 - Leases is still applied:

. Botswana Group gross debt to EBITDA ratio must not exceed 2.0 times;

. Botswana Group interest cover ratio (EBITDA divided by finance charges) must be minimum of 1.2 times;

. Botswana debt service cover ratio (free cash flow divided by the debt service costs) must be a minimum of 1.2 times.

*The Botswana Group consists of the parent Company and the Botswana subsidiary - Choppies Distribution Centre (Pty) Ltd.

The Botswana Group has compiled with these covenants throughout the reporting period. As at the reporting date, these ratios measure
as follows:-

2022 2021
e  Gross debt to EBITDA 1.5 1.1
. Interest Cover ratio 5.4 5.2
[ Debt service cover ratio 1.7 2.0

Shanta Retail Holding Limited

In August 2019, the Group obtained a short term loan for USD 4 million to further finance the working capital requirements of Choppies
Enterprises Kenya Limited from the minority shareholder Shanta Retail Holding Limited. Choppies Enterprises Limited issued a guarantee
for the loan and entered into convertible loan agreement with a minority shareholder of Shanta Retail Holding Limited on the condition
that the loan amount will be converted into shares in the event that Choppies Enterprises Limited defaults on repayment when due.

The loan is interest free and has no fixed repayment terms. The loan was included under liabilities for disposal group in the 2020.
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31. Borrowings (continued)

The loan is guaranteed by the founding shareholders in their personal capacity. If this loan is called before the Group has enough cash to
cater for it, the founding shareholders have agreed to settle it in their personal capacity and then agree suitable terms of repayment with
CEL.

Loan from founding shareholders

Pursuant to the terms of a debt reduction interceptor agreement entered into between Choppies Enterprises Limited, Choppies
Distribution Centre Proprietary Limited a subsidiary of Choppies Enterprises Limited and Absa Bank Limited, First National Bank of
Botswana Limited, Stanbic Bank of Botswana Limited, Standard Bank SA Limited and Standard Chartered Bank Botswana Limited (the
Lenders) on 11 October 2019 and terms of the guarantee entered into by the founding shareholders and the lenders, pursuant to the
intercreditor agreement, the founding shareholders effected a payment of BWP 100 million on 19 October 2019 to the agent for the
lenders. The capital of the loan bears interest at a rate equal to 0.5% below the average rate of interest paid by Choppies Enterprises
Limited to the lenders under various finance documents as defined in the intercreditor agreement. The repayment of this loan may only
happen after the successful implementation of the Group's debt reduction plan. This loan has a reversionary security over the assets
secured in favour of the consortium creditors.

At the reporting date, borrowings payables were as follows:

Cash flows within one year

Capital repayments 87 86 - -
Interest 33 39 - -
120 125 - -

Cash flows within two to five years

Capital repayments 530 616 - -

Interest 60 81 - -
590 697 - -

Total

Capital repayments 617 702 - -

Interest 93 120 - -
710 822 - -

32. Lease liabilities

Minimum lease payments due

- within one year 206 196 - -
- in second to fifth year inclusive 545 495 - -
- later than five years 149 207 - -

900 898 - -
less: future finance charges (156) (176) - -
Present value of minimum lease payments 744 722 - -

Present value of minimum lease payments due

- within one year 157 149 - -
- in second to fifth year inclusive 405 394 - -
- later than five years 182 179 - -

744 722 - -
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32. Lease liabilities (continued)
Non-current liabilities 587 572 - -
Current liabilities 157 150 - -
744 722 - -

Refer to note 36 Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities for details of the movement in the lease liabilities.
Details of leases

The Group has leases for the stores it operates in Botswana, Zambia, Namibia and Zimbabwe. With the exception of short-term leases,
each lease is reflected on the statement of financial position as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. Variable lease payments which do
not depend on an index or a rate (such as lease payments based on a percentage of Group sales) are excluded from the initial
measurement of the lease liability and asset. The Group classifies its right-of-use assets in a consistent manner to its property, plant and
equipment (see note 15).

Each lease generally imposes a restriction that, unless there is a contractual right for the Group to sublet the asset to another party, the
right-of-use asset can only be used by the Group. Leases are either non-cancellable or may only be cancelled by incurring a termination fee.
Most leases contain an option to extend the lease for a further term. The Group is prohibited from selling or pledging the underlying leased
assets as security. Further, the Group must insure items of property, plant and equipment and incur maintenance fees on such items in
accordance with the lease contracts.

Scania Finance Southern Africa (Pty) Limited

Finance lease liabilities

These lease liabilities are secured over motor vehicles with a net book value of BWP 30 million (2021: BWP 2 million). These liabilities bear
interest at the South African prime lending rate less 0.5%-1% per annum and are repayable in 24-36 monthly instalments.

Alensy Energy Solutions (Pty) Ltd
These lease liabilities are secured over solar equipment with a net book value of BWP 2 million (2021: BWP 2 million). These liabilities bear
interest at the South African prime lending rate plus 2% per annum and are repayable in 36 monthly instalments.

Lease payments not recognised as a liability

The Group has elected not to recognise a lease liability for short term leases (leases with an expected term of 12 months or less) or for
leases of low value assets. Payments made under such leases are expensed on a straight-line basis. In addition, certain variable lease
payments are not permitted to be recognised as lease liabilities and are expensed as incurred.

Lease payments not recognised as a liability
The Group has elected not to recognise a lease liability for short term leases (leases with an expected term of 12 months or less) or for
leases of low value assets. Payments made under such leases are expensed on a straight-line basis. In addition, certain variable lease

payments are not permitted to be recognised as lease liabilities and are expensed as incurred.

The expense relating to payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability is as follows:

Gain on rental concession (9) (12) - -
Variable lease payments 8 8 - -
(1) (4) - -

Variable lease payments expensed on the basis that they are not recognised as a lease liability include rentals based on revenue from the
use of the underlying asset. Variable lease payments are expensed in the period they are incurred.
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32. Lease liabilities (continued)
Additional information on the right-of-use assets by class of assets is as follows:
30 June 2022 Carrying  Depreciation Impairment
amounts expense
Buildings 597 154 -
Motor vehicles 30 3 -
Solar equipment 2 - -
629 157 -
30 June 2021 Carrying Depreciation Impairment
amounts expense
Buildings 580 168 -
Motor vehicles 2 1 -
582 169 -

The right-of-use assets are included in the same line item as where the corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were

owned.

33. Deferred tax

Movement in deferred tax is analysed as follows:

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset / (liability)

At beginning of year (19) (29) - -
Charge to the profit or loss 3 9 - -
Business combination - 1 - -
(16) (19) - -
Deferred tax liability
Accelerated capital allowances (37) (146) - -
Right of use asset (93) (1) - -
Unrealised foreign exchange loss (1) 1 - -
Total deferred tax liability (131) (146) - -
Deferred tax asset
Lease liabilities 113 125 - -
Tax losses carried forward 2 2 - -
Total deferred tax asset 115 127 - -
Deferred tax liability (131) (146) - -
Deferred tax asset 115 127 - -
Total net deferred tax liability (16) (19) - -
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34. Amounts due to related entities
Amounts due to related entities
Amounts due to related entities 44 a4 - -

These balances are trade related, unsecured, interest free and are repayable under normal trading terms. Refer to note 39 for the details

of related party balances and transactions.

All amounts are short-term. The carrying values of amounts due to related entities are considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair

value.
35. Trade and other payables

Financial instruments:

Trade payables 585 440 - -

Consideration payable to Kind Investment (Pty) Ltd 15 8 - 4

Other payables 108 110 - 1

Non-financial instruments:

Withholding tax payable 2 3 - -

Vat payables 7 7 - -
717 568 - 5

Financial instrument and non-financial instrument components of trade and other payables

At amortised cost 708 558 - 5

Non-financial instruments 9 10 - -
717 568 - 5

Trade and other payables are interest-free and have payment terms of up to 30 days.

Fair value of trade and other payables

All amounts are short-term. The carrying values of trade and other payables are considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Information of the Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risks is included in note 41.
36. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities - Group - 2022

Opening Foreign New leases Repayments Accrued Closing balance
balance exchange Interest
movements

Borrowings 551 - - (84) - 467
Shareholders loan 107 - - - 6 113
Shanta 44 5 - (12) - 37
Finance leases 2 - 36 (7) - 31
Lease liabilities 720 45 112 (164) - 713
Total liabilities from financing 1424 50 148 (267) 6 1361

activities
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36. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (continued)
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities - Group - 2021

Opening  Discontinued Foreign New leases (Repayments)/ Closing balance

balance operations exchange Accrued

movements interest

Borrowings 446 40 - 556 (491) 551
Shareholders loan 102 - - - 5 107
Shanta - 107 (33) - (30) 44
Finance leases 8 - 2 - (8) 2
Lease liabilities 745 - 18 111 (154) 720
Total liabilities from financing 1301 147 (13) 667 (678) 1424

activities

37. Business combinations
Jexman Holdings Proprietary Limited

On 1 October 2020, Jexman Holdings Proprietary Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Choppies Distribution Centre (Pty) Ltd, purchased
100% of the shares in the Botswana subsidiary of Uae Exchange International Holdings Limited. The Group rebranded the business as
MonyGlob (Pty) Ltd trading as MonyGlob Bureau De Change. MonyGlob’s business and principal activities are money transfer and foreign
exchange.

The acquisition expands the Group’s presence in areas previously under-serviced by Choppies and are expected to increase revenue and
earnings in the future. As a socially responsible corporate Group, the Group retained all staff working in the acquired business and
employed additional staff to enhance the management team.

The net assets of the acquired businesses are summarised as follows.

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Property, plant and equipment - 9

Deferred tax - 2 - -
1
1

Trade and other receivables -
Current tax receivable -

Cash and cash equivalents - 3 - -
Lease liabilities - (8) - -
Trade and other payables - (2) - -
Total identifiable net assets - 6 - -

Acquisition date fair value of consideration paid

Cash - (6) - -

The acquisition-related costs amounted to BWP 179 000. These costs have been expensed in the year of acquisition and are included in
consulting and professional charges in the profit or loss.

The fair value of the trade and other receivables approximates its gross contractual cash flows and amounts.
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38. Contingencies
The Group has the following contingent liabilities at the reporting date:
Choppies Enterprises Limited has the following guarantees issued for Nanavac Investments (Pvt) Limited:
Beneficiaries Currency 2022 2021 2022 2021
'000 '000 BWP'000 BWP'000
Delta Corporation Limited uss 800 800 9950 8724
National Foods Operations Limited uss 2 000 2 000 24 876 21810
Dairibord Zimbabwe (Pvt) Limited uss 1000 1000 12 438 10905
Unilever Zimbabwe (Pvt) Limited uss 800 800 9950 8724
Lobels Biscuits (Pvt) Limited uss 400 400 4975 4362
Zimbabwe Sugar Sales (Pvt) Limited uss 479 479 5952 5224
Choppies Zimbabwe ZWL 100 000 - 3396 -
71537 59 749
The guarantees are callable on demand.
Choppies Enterprises Limited has the following guarantees issued for Choppies Supermarkets Tanzania Limited:
Beneficiaries 2022 2021 2022 2021
TZS'000 TZS'000 BWP'000 BWP'000
Tanzanian Breweries Limited 10 000 10 000 47 46
Bonite Bottlers Limited 7 500 7 500 35 34
17 500 17 500 82 80

Choppies Supermarkets SA (Pty) Limited had the following guarantees at the date of disposal (as per the closing sale agreement with Kind

Investments (Pty) Ltd):

Beneficiaries 2022 2021 2022 2021
ZAR'000 ZAR'000 BWP'000 BWP'000
Consumer Goods and Services - 138 - 105
Southern African Music Rights Organisation - 561 - 428
Delareyville Municipality - 1892 - 1444
QWIX Technology - 780 - 1595
Barakaat Property Investments (Mondeor Lease) - 499 - 381
Recyquip Engineering and Manufacturing (Pty) Ltd - 1282 - 979
Mont Catering & Refrigerations SA (Pty) Ltd - 6709 - 5121
- 11 861 - 10 053

The guarantees were called during the year and were accrued during the year (refer to note 35) and included further considerations

totaling BWP 20 million.
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39. Related parties
Relationships
Subsidiaries Refer to note 19

The Group’s related parties include its key management, companies with common directors and ownership.

Unless otherwise stated, none of the transactions incorporate special terms and conditions and no guarantees were given or received.
Outstanding balances are usually settled in cash.

Related party balances

Amounts due from related entities (subsidiaries)

Choppies Distribution Centre (Pty) Ltd - - 137 141
Nanavac Investments (Pty) Ltd - - 35 35
Nanavac Investments (Pty) Ltd - impairment - - (18) (18)
Choppies Supermarkets Limited (Zambia) - - 10 10

Choppies Supermarkets Namibia (Pty) Limited - - - -

- - 164 168

The balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. In the Company an impairment reversal of BWP Nil (2021: BWP 3
million) was recognised for amounts due from related party, Choppies Supermarket SA (Pty) Ltd. No other impairment losses have been
recognised during the financial year.

Related entities are third parties in which one or both of the founding shareholders or their immediate family members have significant
control through ownership or directorship.

These balances are trading related, are based on mutually agreed terms and conditions, unsecured and interest-free and are payable under
normal trading terms.

Amounts due from related entities (third parties) - BWP

Thousands

Acree (Pty) Ltd 81 53 - -
Admiral Touch (Pty) Ltd 106 31 - -
Auto World (Pty) Ltd 91 82 - -
Bagpiper (Pty) Ltd 30 41 - -
Balance Fortune (Pty) Ltd 16 12 - -
Brookside Farm (Pty) Ltd (Adam's Apple (Pty) Ltd) 99 - - -
Cottonvale (Pty) Ltd - 1 - -
Distron Botswana (Pty) Ltd 3 28 - -
Distron Zambia (Pty) Ltd 2 - - -
Feasible Investments (Pty) Ltd 69 60 - -
Gainville (Pty) Ltd 91 18 - -
Honey Guide (Pty) Ltd 138 66 - -
Iceland Enterprises SA (Pty) Ltd 1 - - -
llo Industries (Pty) Ltd 440 251 - -
Kala Hari Medical Distributors (Pty) Ltd 21 1752 - -
Kamoso Africa (Pty) Ltd 26 - - -
Keriotic Investments (Pty) Ltd 1013 1026 - -
Lubsoga (Pty) Ltd 21 1 - -
Mackinnon Holdings (Pty) Ltd 2 2 - -
Mont Catering and Refrigeration (Pty) Ltd - 1 - -
Ovais Investment (Pty) Ltd 77 43 - -
Pennywise Investments (Pty) Ltd 3 6 - -
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39. Related parties (continued)
Princieton (Pty) Ltd - 4 - -
RBV Consultant (Pty) Ltd 654 466 - -
Real Plastic Mould (Pty) Ltd 111 95 - -
Rootlet (Pty) Ltd - 6 - -
Shaysons Investments (Pty) Ltd 3 80 - -
Solace (Pty) Ltd 305 225 - -
Stride of Success (Pty) Ltd - 5 - -
The FaR Property Company Ltd - 9 - -
Vet Agric Suppliers (Pty) Ltd 1046 926 - -
ZCX Investments (Pty) Ltd - 20 - -

4449 5310 - -

The balances are trading related, are based on mutually agreed terms and conditions, unsecured and

normal trading terms.
*Negative values are advance payments received.

Amounts due to related entities (third parties) - BWP
Thousands

Acree (Pty) Ltd

Admiral Touch (Pty) Ltd

Aleris (Pty) Ltd

Anuksha (Pty) Ltd

Auto World (Pty) Ltd

Bagpiper (Pty) Ltd

Balance Fortune (Pty) Ltd

Bargen (Pty) Ltd

Brookside Farm (Pty) Ltd (Adam's Apple (Pty) Ltd)
Cottonvale (Pty) Ltd

Distron Botswana (Pty) Ltd

Distron Zambia (Pty) Ltd

ETG (Pty) Ltd

Electometic Enterprises (Pty) Ltd

Feasible Investments (Pty) Ltd

Ghanzi Highway Fillings Station

Honey Guide (Pty) Ltd

Iceland Enterprises SA (Pty) Ltd

llo Industries (Pty) Ltd

Industrial Filling Station (Pty) Ltd

Kala Hari Medical Distributors (Pty) Ltd
Kamoso Africa (Pty) Ltd

Keriotic Investments (Pty) Ltd

Mackinnon Holdings (Pty) Ltd

Mont Catering and Refrigeration (Pty) Ltd
Mont Catering and Refrigeration SA (Pty) Ltd
Part Quip (Pty) Ltd

Pennywise Investments (Pty) Ltd

Pharma Futura (Pty) Ltd

Pinestone (Pty) Ltd

Prosperous People (Pty) Ltd

RBV Consultants (Pty) Ltd

Real Plastic Mould (Pty) Ltd

Shaysons Investments (Pty) Ltd

389
576
23
35
21
179
1133
18
873
116
790
946

508
3144
58
4901
349
4993
51
80

12 246
64
1283

75

1022
466
101

3919

1502
290

998
390

16

58
439
2345
104

13
1660
614

885
2708
33
3429

3211
28

11

216

18 081
49

90

526

52

386
336
62
4033
1071
248

interest free and repayable under
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39. Related parties (continued)
Shree Trading (Pty) Ltd 42 19
Solace (Pty) Ltd 703 483
Vet Agric Supplies (Pty) Ltd 3516 1102
Whitecoral (Pty) Ltd 50 29

44 462 43734
Related party transactions
Sale/(sales returns) of stock to related entities - BWP
Thousands
Acree (Pty) Ltd 697 637
Admiral Touch (Pty) Ltd 564 940
Auto World (Pty) Ltd 1691 1382
Bagpiper (Pty) Ltd 552 538
Balance Fortune (Pty) Ltd 223 126
Boitumelo Foundation 415 107
Cottonvale (Pty) Ltd 163 131
Distron Botswana (Pty) Ltd 377 28
Electrometic Enterprises (Pty) Ltd 88 86
Exelligent (Pty) Ltd 1 -
Farouk Ismail 250 5
Feasible Investments (Pty) Ltd 726 579
Gainville (Pty) Ltd 86 80
Honey Guide (Pty) Ltd 669 112
llo Industries (Pty) Ltd 4110 2816
Kala Hari Medical Distributors (Pty) Ltd - 2429
KamosO0 Africa (Pty) Ltd 64 3
Keriotic Investments (Pty) Ltd 6532 6 700
Lobsaga (Pty) Ltd - 29
Mackinnon Holdings (Pty) Ltd 12 67
Marvelous Hope (Pty) Ltd 15 -
Megatop Holdings (Pty) Ltd 154 105
Mont Catering Refrigeration(Pty) Ltd 17 12
Ovais Investments (Pty) Ltd 546 383
Pennywise Investments (Pty) Ltd 71 60
Pharma Futura (Pty) Ltd 29 26
Princieton (Pty) Ltd 22 22
RBV Consultants (Pty) Ltd 3721 3073
Real Plastic Mould (Pty) Ltd 988 777
Rootlet (Pty) Ltd 90 81
Shaysons Investments (Pty) Ltd 1213 258
Solace (Pty) Ltd 3307 3196
Strides of Sucess (Pty) Ltd 125 47
The FaR Property Company Ltd 198 178
Venta (Pty) Ltd - 10
Vet Agric Suppliers (Pty) Ltd 10490 8 826
Zcx Investment (Pty) Ltd 299 186

38 505 34 035
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39. Related parties (continued)
Purchase of goods or services from related entities - BWP
Thousands
Acree (Pty) Ltd 2579 2 650 - -
Admiral Touch (Pty) Ltd 9304 6 566 - -
Aleris (Pty) Ltd 256 - - -
Anuksha (Pty) Ltd 369 243 - -
Auto World (Pty) Ltd 411 465 - -
Bagpiper (Pty) Ltd 141 238 - -
Balance Fortune (Pty) Ltd 13 881 11573 - -
Bargen (Pty) Ltd 721 373 - -
Brookside Farm (Pty) Ltd (Adam's Apple (Pty) Ltd) 8398 - - -
Cottonvale (Pty) Ltd 1016 74 - -
Dinawa Farms (Pty) Ltd - 110 - -
Distron Botswana (Pty) Ltd 7132 7 632 - -
Electrometic Enterprises (Pty) Ltd 6171 5006 - -
Feasible Investment (Pty) Ltd 25271 18194 - -
Ghanzi Halfway Filling Station (Pty) Ltd 513 320 - -
Honey Guide (Pty) Ltd 50272 45 067 - -
Iceland Enterprises SA (Pty) Ltd 622 - - -
llo Industries (Pty) Ltd 53596 49 722 - -
Industrial Filling Station (Pty) Ltd 537 382 - -
Kala Hari Medical Distribtors (Pty) Ltd 492 3405 - -
Kamoso Africa (Pty) Ltd 3 1055 - -
Keriotic Investments (Pty) Ltd 88 499 126 850 - -
Mackinnon Holdings (Pty) Ltd 720 369 - -
Megatop Holdings (Pty) Ltd - 175 - -
Mont Catering and Refridgeration SA (Pty) Ltd - 86 - -
Mont Catering and Refrigeration (Pty) Ltd 1982 2163 - -
Part Quip (Pty) Ltd 874 742 - -
Pearl Grey (Pty) Ltd - 6 - -
Pennywise Investments (Pty) Ltd 96 242 - -
Pharma Futura (Pty) Ltd 21702 13 060 - -
Pinestone (Pty) Ltd 5997 3797 - -
Prosperous People (Pty) Ltd 967 755 - -
RBV Consultants (Pty) Ltd 27 997 29 166 - -
Real Plastic Mould (Pty) Ltd 14 265 11921 - -
Sariox (Pty) Ltd 1250 532 - -
Shaysons Investments (Pty) Ltd 1348 1192 - -
Shree Trading (Pty) Ltd 295 200 - -
Solace (Pty) Ltd 40 765 40 947 - -
Vet Agric Suppliers (Pty) Ltd 109 674 99611 - -
Whitecoral (Pty) Ltd 437 141 - -
ZCX Investments (Pty) Ltd 391 475 - -

498 944 485 505 - -
Rent paid to (received from) related parties - BWP
Thousands
The FaR Property Company Ltd 61944 58 744 - -
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39. Related parties (continued)
Interest paid to (received from) related parties - BWP
Thousands
O Ottapathu 4420 4 446 - -
FE Ismail 1105 1111 - -

5525 5557 - -

*Rent paid is the actual rental payments as per lease agreements. Included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income is an interest expense of BWP 15 million (2021: BWP 16 million) relating to the right-of-use asset.

40. Directors' emoluments

The table below provides key management personnel compensation during the year including directors. These amounts are included in

employee costs in note 7.

Directors fees - BWP Thousands
Non-executive directors

FE Ismail 100 300 - -

CJ Harward 433 767 - -

DKU Corea 300 400 - -

T Pritchard 467 733 - -

V Chitalu 433 - - -
1733 2200 - -

Salaries - BWP Thousands

Executive directors

R Ottapathu 10 146 7572 - -

Retainer fees - BWP Thousands

Non - executive directors

FE Ismail 300 300 - -

T Pritchard 500 366 - -

DKU Corea 660 600 - -

CJ Harward 360 300 - -

Valentine Chitalu 640 - - -
2460 1566 - -

Salaries - BWP Thousands

Related to other key management personnel

M Rajcoomar 3721 2599 - -

V Sanooj 2279 1881 - -

Subheesh Kolazhy 1793 1434 - -
7793 5914 - -
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Categories of financial instruments
Categories of financial assets

Group - 2022

Loans to group companies
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Group - 2021

Loans to group companies
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Company - 2022

Loans to group companies

Company - 2021

Loans to group companies

Carrying value is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Note(s) Amortised cost Total Fair value
22 4 4 -
24 66 66 66
26 85 85 85

155 155 151

Note(s) Amortised cost Carrying amount Fair value
22 5 5 -
24 54 54 54
26 74 74 74

133 133 128

Note(s) Amortised cost Carryingamount  Fair value
22 164 164 -

Note(s) Amortised cost Carryingamount  Fair value

22 168 168
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Categories of financial liabilities

Group - 2022

Trade and other payables
Loans from group companies
Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Finance lease liabilities

Bank overdraft

Group - 2021

Trade and other payables
Loans from group companies
Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Finance lease liabilities

Bank overdraft

Carrying value is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Company - 2022

Company - 2021

Trade and other payables

Carrying value is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Note(s)

35
34
31
32

26

Note(s)

35
34
31
32

26

Note(s)

35

Amortised cost Carrying amount Fair value

708 708 708

44 44 -

617 617 617

744 744 744

68 68 68

2181 2181 2137
Amortised cost Carrying amount Fair value

558 558 558

44 44 -

702 702 702

722 722 722

68 68 68

2094 2094 2050
Amortised cost Carrying amount Fair value

5 5
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Capital risk management
The capital structure and gearing ratio of the Group at the reporting date was as follows:

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.

This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including 'current and non-current
borrowings' as shown in the statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as 'equity' as shown
in the statement of financial position plus net debt.

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally imposed capital
requirements from the previous year.

Financial risk management
Overview

The Group is exposed to credit, liquidity, interest rate and foreign currency risk due to the effects of changes in debt, exchange rates and
interest rates experienced in the normal course of business. The Group’s objective is to effectively manage each of the risks associated
with its financial instruments in order to minimise the potential adverse effect on the financial performance and position of the Group.

Risk management framework
The Group’s board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits
and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes
in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to
maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Group’s board of directors through the audit and risk committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s
risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by
the Group.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Group’s income or the
value of its holdings in financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures
within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on investment.

Credit risk

The Group has exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in full when due. Key areas
where the Group is exposed to credit risk are:

. amounts due from related entities;

. trade and other receivables;

. cash and cash equivalents; and

o advances and deposits.

o financial guarantee contracts at a Company level
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The Group limits the levels of credit risk it accepts by placing limits on its exposure to a single counterparty or groups of counterparties.
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, and exposure to third parties is monitored as part of the credit control process.

Reputable financial institutions are used for investing and cash handling purposes. All money market instruments and cash equivalents are
placed with financial institutions registered with banks registered in the geographical areas where the Group operates. Banks in Botswana
are not rated, but most of the banks are subsidiaries of major South African or United Kingdom registered institutions.

The Company applies the IFRS 9 simplified model of recognising lifetime expected credit losses for all trade receivables as these items do
not have a significant financing component.

In measuring the expected credit losses, the trade receivables that have similar characteristics are grouped together and assessed on a
collective basis as they possess shared credit risk characteristics. They have been grouped based on the days past due and according to the
geographical location of customers where applicable.

In determining the level of likely credit losses on write-off of trade receivables, the Group has taken cognisance of historical collections
from external debt collection processes and delayed settlement arrangements with debtors, as well as the impact which the expected
future development of macro-economic indicators (specifically Gross Domestic Product) may have on historical collection and default rates,
including the possible impact of the Russia-Ukraine war on its business and collection.

Trade receivables are considered irrecoverable where:
o the customer has not made any payment within 180 days from the date of invoice (at which stage amounts are considered in
full default);
o no alternative payment arrangements have been made and adhered to by the customer during the first 90 days after date of
invoice; and
o alternative collection efforts (mainly through external debt collection agencies), initiated once the invoice has been outstanding
for more than 90 days, have failed.

On the above basis the expected credit loss for trade receivables as at 30 June 2022 was determined as follows, (refer to note 24).

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is summarised as follows:

Group 2022 2021
Gross carrying Credit lossAmortised cost Gross carrying Credit lossAmortised cost
amount allowance amount allowance
Loans to group companies 22 4 - 4 5 - 5
Trade and other receivables 24 76 (10) 66 57 (3) 54
Cash and cash equivalents 26 85 - 85 74 - 74
165 (10) 155 136 (3) 133
Company 2022 2021
Gross carrying Credit lossAmortised cost Gross carrying Credit lossAmortised cost
amount allowance amount allowance
Loans to group companies 22 164 - 164 168 - 168
Liquidity risk

The maturity profile of contractual cash flows of non-derivative financial liabilities, and financial assets held to mitigate the risk, are
presented in the following table. The cash flows are undiscounted contractual amounts.
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Group - 2022

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Lease liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Bank overdraft

Group - 2021

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Lease liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Bank overdraft

Company - 2022

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Company - 2021

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

31
32

35
31
32
26

31
32

35
31
32
26

35

35

Less than 2 to 5 years Over Contractual cash Carrying amount
1year 5 years flows

- 623 545 1168 530

- 495 149 644 587

708 - - 708 708

120 - - 120 87

206 - - 206 157

68 - - 68 68

(1102) (1118) (694) (2914) (2137)

Less than 2 to 5 years Over Contractual cash Carrying amount
1vyear 5 years flows

- 698 - 698 616

- 495 206 701 572

558 - - 558 558

125 - - 125 86

- - - - 150

68 - - 68 68

(751) (1193) (206) (2 150) (2 050)

Less than 2 to 5 years Over Contractual cash Carrying amount
1year 5 years flows

5 - - 5 5
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2022

2021

41. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

Foreign currency risk

Exposure in Pula

The net carrying amounts, in Pula, of the various exposures, are denominated in the following currencies. The amounts have been
presented in Pula by converting the foreign currency amounts at the closing rate at the reporting date:

US Dollar exposure:

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Liabilities:
Trade and other payables
Loan - Borrowings

Net US Dollar exposure

ZAR exposure:

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities:
Trade and other payables
Loans

Net ZAR exposure

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Net exposure to foreign currency in Pula

24
26

35
26

24
26

35
26

26

1 - - -
- 1 - -

(1) (3) - -
(1) - - -
(1) (2) - -
52 - - .
77 26 - -
(230) (200) - -
(4) - - -
(105) (174) - .
(106) (176) - .
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41. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Exposure in foreign currency amounts
The net carrying amounts, in foreign currency of the above exposure was as follows:
US Dollar exposure:
Current assets:
Trade and other receivables 24 8 3 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 26 4 7 - -
Current liabilities:
Trade and other payables 35 (14) (38) - -
Net US Dollar exposure (2) (28) - -
ZAR exposure:
Current assets:
Trade and other receivables 24 39 20 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 26 59 20 - -
Current liabilities:
Trade and other payables 35 (174) (153) - -
Loan 26 (3) - - -
Net ZAR exposure (79) (113) - -
GBP exposure:
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 26 2 2 - -
Exchange rates
Year end exchange rates:
South Africa Rand 13211 13083 - -
United States Dollar 00804 00941 - -
British Pound Sterling 00663 00662 - -
Average exchange rates:
South African Rand 13240 13800 - -
United States Dollar 00862 00901 - -
British Pound Sterling 0 0665 0 0665 - -
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Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following information presents the sensitivity of the Group to an increase or decrease in the respective currencies it is exposed to. The
sensitivity rate is the rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated amounts and adjusts their translation at the reporting date. No changes were made to the methods and

assumptions used in the preparation of the sensitivity analysis compared to the previous reporting period.

Company
Increase or decrease in rate

Impact on profit or loss before tax:

South African Rand denominated assets — banks
United States Dollar denominated assets — banks
British Pound Sterling denominated assets — banks
South African Rand denominated assets — receivables
United States denominated assets — receivables
South African Rand denominated liabilities

United States Dollar denominated liabilities

Impact on profit or loss after tax:

South African Rand denominated assets — banks
United States Dollar denominated assets — banks
British Pound Sterling denominated assets — banks
South African Rand denominated assets — receivables
United States denominated assets — receivables
South African Rand denominated liabilities

United States Dollar denominated liabilities

2022 2022 2021 2021
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
4 (4) 2 (2)

1 (1) 1 (1)

7 7) 2 (2)
(19) 19 (17) 17
(2) 2 (4) 4
(9) 9 (16) 16

3 (3) 2 (2)

1 (1) 1 (1)

5 (5) 2 (2)
(15) 15 (13) 13
(1) 1 (3) 2
(7) 7 (11) 10

A 10% strengthening of the Botswana Pula against the above mentioned currencies at the reporting date would have had an equal but
opposite effect on the Group’s profit before taxation and equity to the amounts disclosed above.

The Group reviews its foreign currency exposure, including commitments on an ongoing basis. The Company expects its foreign exchange

contracts to hedge foreign exchange exposure.
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41. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and loans. Fixed rate borrowings expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk. Variable rate borrowings, loans and cash and cash equivalents results in cash flow interest rate risks. Other than
ensuring optimum money market rates for deposits, the Group does not make use of financial instruments to manage this risk.

The Group invests with reputable institutions and has obtained borrowings and overdraft facilities, which are subject to normal market
interest rate risk. The effective annual interest rates on the Group’s call deposits, long-term borrowings and bank overdrafts at year-end
were as follows:

Interest rate profile

The following are the Pula equivalent of the balances susceptible to interest rate risk:

Note Average effective Carrying amount
interest rate
2022 2021 2022 2021
Assets
Call accounts denominated in Pula 4.00% to 6.00% 4.00% to 6.00% 1 3
Call accounts denominated in foreign currency 1.00% to 2.00% 1.00% to 2.00%
Fixed deposits with banks 5.50% to 7.00% 5.50% to 7.00% 5 5
6 8
Liabilities
Borrowings 31 600 % 600 % (744) (702)
Net variable rate financial instruments (738) (694)
Interest cost
2022 2021

Botswana

Absa Bank of Botswana Limited (overdraft) Prime plus 0.17% Prime plus 0.17%

Stanbic Bank Botswana Limited (overdraft)

First National Bank Botswana Limited (overdraft)
Absa Bank of Botswana Limited (term loan)
Stanbic Bank Botswana Limited (term loan)

First National Bank Botswana Limited (term loan)
Absa Bank Kenya PLC

Shanta Retail Holding Limited

Absa Bank of Botswana Limited

Alensy Energy Solutions (Pty) Ltd

Scania Finance Southern Africa

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

Prime plus 0.17%
Prime plus 0.17%
Prime plus 0.17%
Prime plus 0.81%
Prime plus 0.81%
Libor plus 3%
Prime plus 2%
Prime plus 2%
Prime plus 2%

Prime plus 0.17%
Prime plus 0.17%
Prime plus 0.17%
Prime plus 0.81%
Prime plus 0.81%
Libor plus 3%
Prime plus 2%
Prime plus 2%
Prime plus 2%

With average interest rates as noted, an increase/decrease of 0.5% (2021: 0.5%) in the current interest rates during the reporting period
would have increased/decreased the Group’s profit before taxation and equity as disclosed below:

Group

Increase or decrease in rate by 0.5% (2021: 0.5%)

Impact on pre-tax profit
Interest paid

2022 2022 2021 2021
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
7 (7) 4 (4)
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42. Financial support

Choppies Distribution Centre (Pty) Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of Choppies Enterprises Ltd, has pledged its continued financial and
operational support to certain subsidiaries of Choppies Enterprises Limited in order for these companies to continue operating as going
concerns in the foreseeable future. Each of these companies is technically insolvent with their liabilities exceeding their assets.

The financial support provided by the Company will continue for each individual Company until such time as the equity and assets, fairly
valued, exceed the liabilities for each of the respective individual companies.

Based on the ability of Choppies Distribution Centre (Pty) Ltd to continue providing such support, the individual financial statements of
these technically insolvent companies have been prepared on the going concern assumption. The shareholders’ deficits at the reporting

date for each of the companies are summarised as follows:

Foreign subsidiaries in BWP million

Choppies Supermarkets Namibia (Pty) Limited - - 59 43
Choppies Supermarkets Limited (Zambia) - - 134 184
Nanavac Investments (Pvt) Limited - - 250 246

- - 443 473

43. Loss from discontinued operations

During the financial year 2020, Choppies Enterprises Limited Board decided to discontinue the operations of Kenya, Tanzania, Mozambique
and South Africa. The South African operations were sold during April 2020 and Kenya, Tanzania and Mozambque were closed and the
Group exited these countries during the 2020 financial year.

At the end of the financial year 2021 any remaining assets and liabilities we transferred to continuing business.

Operating losses of South Africa and the other three regions are summarised as follows:

2022 2021 2022 2021

Consolidated discontinued
operations

Revenue - - - -
Cost of sales - - - -
Net profit before tax

Expenses - (19) - -
Net interest - (3) - -
Tax - - - -
Net loss after tax _ (22) - -

Loss on remeasurement and disposal
Loss before tax on disposal - - - -

- (22) - -

44. Going concern

The Group and Company annual financial statements have been prepared based on accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This
basis assumes that there will be funds available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities,
contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.
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44. Going concern (continued)

The Group’s negative equity reduced from BWP 448 million at June 2021 to BWP 341 million as at June 2022 mainly due to trading profits
and hyperinflationary translation reserves exceeding currency weaknesses in Zimbabwe.

Although there are conditions and events that create doubt around the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, the ability of the
Group and Company to continue as a going concern is dependent on many factors and indicators. The ability of the Group and Company to
continue as a going concern is dependent on many factors and indicators. The Board has considered, amongst other, the following relating
to financial, operating and legislation towards management's assessment of going concern. It should be stressed that the Board has relied
on information as prepared by management, and as listed below.

Financial indicators

. The consolidated and individual subsidiary budgets for the 2023 financial year indicate that the Group will be profitable.

. Modelling and stress testing the forecast financial results for the Group and Company for the next five years indicated
improvements in performance going forward.

. Sensitivity and stress tested monthly cash flow projections for the next twelve months to June 2023 and beyond to consider the
impact of the working capital and essential capital expenditure;

. The restructured debt facility will allow more flexibility and headroom compared to the previous structure. The debt is detailed
under note 31.

. Based on the forecasts, management is confident that the Group will comply with all covenant requirements going forward.

. As at June 2022, there are no fixed term borrowings that have matured and the projections do not indicate any challenges in
repayment of borrowings in the next twelve months.

. The founding shareholders have also provided personal sureties towards the Kenyan loan to the minority shareholder’s
amounting to BWP 37 million (2021: BWP 44 million), with recourse thereafter to the Group;

Operational indicators

. Management have assessed the economic and operational forecast environment in the countries where the subsidiaries
operate. The Zimbabwe situation will continue to be challenging with currency volatility and restrictions on profit repatriation
expected to continue.

. The Group has not lost any key supplier or service agreements which are key for generating revenue and profits. The Group is
looking to strengthen relationships further and venture into new areas of revenue generation going forward.

. Relationship with suppliers have strengthened further compared to prior years. The inventory levels are therefore expected to
remain at required levels to enable the Group to generate the budgeted revenue and achieve customer satisfaction and brand
loyalty.

. Management is aware of the competition in the markets in which they operate. They are confident of retaining and increasing
the market share in the coming years through effective service delivery.

Legislative and other factors
. Compliance with all laws and regulations applicable to the Group is currently a priority for the Board and management. All
identified risks on compliance are continuously being dealt with and appropriate controls are being put in place to detect and
act upon any compliance requirements which might arise.
. Management is not aware of any key legislative change which can affect the Group going forward.

Consequently, the Board relying on managements assessment, is confident that both the Company and Group will continue as going
concerns in the foreseeable future.

45. Events after the reporting period

We expect continued uncertainty in our business and the Southern African economy due to the duration and intensity of global credit
conditions which have turned more negative on rising interest rates, the Russia-Ukraine military conflict, slower economic growth, surging
prices for energy and commodities, renewed supply-chain disruption, financial market volatility, volatility in employment trends and
consumer confidence, all of which may impact our results.
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